

(12 CCR 2509-8)

7.702 RULES REGULATING CHILD CARE CENTERS (LESS THAN 24-HOUR CARE)

All child care centers must comply with the CURRENT “General Rules for Child Care Facilities” 7.701, as well as the “Rules Regulating Child Care Centers (Less Than 24-Hour Care)” 7.702, “RULES REGULATING SPECIAL ACTIVITIES” 7.719, and the “Rules and Regulations Governing the Sanitation of Child Care Centers in the State of Colorado” C.R.S. 25-1.5-101(1)(h), AND THE USDA CACFP PART 266.20(1.5).

All infant nurseries PROGRAMS and toddler nurseries PROGRAMS must meet all of the requirements for centers in 7.702 except where rules specific to infant or toddler nurseries PROGRAMS replace other rules. Rules that apply only to infant and toddler nurseries PROGRAMS appear in bold type/italics at the end of sections. These rules either replace other rules in that section or are in addition to other rules in that section. The “contents” pages also indicate rules that apply only to infant nurseries PROGRAMS and toddler nurseries PROGRAMS.

7.702.1 (None) [Rev. eff. 6/1/12]

7.702.2 DEFINITIONS [Rev. eff. 6/1/12]

- A. Child care centers, less than 24-hour care (referred to as “centers”), provide comprehensive care for children when the parents or guardians are employed or otherwise unavailable to care for the children. Child care centers may operate twenty four (24) hours a day, but the children are cared for at the center fewer than twenty four (24) hours a day.
- B. Child care centers, less than 24-hour programs of care, include the following types of facilities:
 - 1. A “large child care center” provides care for 16 or more children between the ages of 2 1/2 and 168 years.
 - 2. A “small child care center” provides care for 5 through 15 children between the ages of 2 and 168 years.
 - 3. An “infant nursery PROGRAM” provides care for children between the ages of 6 weeks and 18 months.
 - 4. A “toddler nursery PROGRAM” provides care for children between the ages of 12 months (when walking independently OR WITH A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER’S STATEMENT) and 36 months.
 - 5. “Preschool” is a part-day child care program for 5 or more children between the ages of 2 1/2 and 7 years.
 - 6. “Kindergarten” provides a program for children the year before they enter the first grade.
 - 7. “FULL DAY PROGRAM” ENROLLS CHILDREN FOR FIVE (5) OR MORE HOURS PER DAY.

8. "PART DAY PROGRAM" ENROLLS CHILDREN FOR A MAXIMUM OF UP TO FIVE (5) HOURS PER DAY. INDIVIDUAL CHILDREN SHALL NOT ATTEND MORE THAN ONE (1) FIVE (5) HOUR SESSION PER DAY.
79. A "drop-in child care center" provides occasional care for 40 or fewer children between the ages of 12 months and 13 years of age for short periods of time not to exceed six (6) hours in any 24-hour period of time or fifteen (15) hours in any seven (7) day period of time.

7.702.3 ADMINISTRATION

(See also "Administration" at 7.701.5, General Rules for Child Care Facilities)

- A. The governing body must appoint a director who will be responsible to the governing body and who will be delegated the authority and responsibility for the operation of the center according to its defined purpose and policies.
- B. The governing body must formulate the purpose and policies to be followed by the center. It must have a regular planned review of such purpose and policies to determine that the center is in compliance with licensing rules.
- C. The governing body is responsible for providing necessary facilities, adequate financing, qualified personnel, services, and program functions for the safety and well-being of children in accordance with these rules.
- D. ANY CENTER HAVING A DIRECTOR ASSIGNED TO A CLASSROOM SHALL HAVE QUALIFIED AND ADEQUATE STAFF FOR DUTIES ASSIGNED, ALLOWING THE DIRECTOR THE ABILITY TO ATTEND TO DUTIES OF A DIRECTOR AS THEY ARISE.
- DE. The director of the center is responsible for administering the center in accordance with licensing rules. The director must plan and supervise the child development program, plan for or participate in selection of staff, plan for orientation and staff development, supervise and coordinate staff activities, evaluate staff performance, and participate in the program activities.
- EF. The director of a part-day preschool program operated by an accredited public school system is responsible for administering the center in accordance with licensing rules and supervising the ~~EARLY childHOOD development~~ program. The director OR STAFF DESIGNATED BY THE GOVERNING BODY must plan for or participate in orientation and staff development, supervise or coordinate staff activities, participate in the evaluation of staff performance, and participate in program activities.

7.702.4 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

7.702.41 Statement of Policies and Procedures

AT THE TIME OF ENROLLMENT, AND UPON AMENDMENT THE CENTER MUST GIVE THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) THE CENTERS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND GIVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO ASK QUESTIONS. BY SIGNING THE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES DOCUMENT, THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) AGREE TO FOLLOW, ACCEPT THE CONDITIONS OF, AND GIVE AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL FOR THE ACTIVITIES DESCRIBED IN THE POLICIES. THE WRITTEN POLICIES CAN BE AVAILABLE ELECTRONICALLY OR IN HARD COPY. THE PROVIDER MUST OBTAIN A SIGNED DOCUMENT STATING THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) HAVE RECEIVED THE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES. ~~A written statement of the center's policies and procedures must be made available to parents and guardians and to staff and~~ POLICIES must include the following:

- A. The center's purpose and its philosophy on child care.
- B. The ages of children accepted.
- DC. The hours the center is open, specific hours during which special programs are offered, holidays when the center is closed.
- ED. The policy regarding inclement and excessively hot weather.
- EE. The procedure concerning admission and registration of children.
- GF. An itemized fee schedule.
- HG. The procedure for identifying where children are at all times.
- H. ~~The policy on discipline.~~ POLICY ON GUIDANCE, POSITIVE INSTRUCTION, SUPPORTING POSITIVE BEHAVIOR, DISCIPLINE AND CONSEQUENCES INCLUDING HOW THE CENTER WILL:
 1. CULTIVATE POSITIVE CHILD, STAFF AND FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS. CREATE AND MAINTAIN A SOCIALLY AND EMOTIONALLY RESPECTFUL EARLY LEARNING AND CARE ENVIRONMENT.
 2. IMPLEMENT TEACHING STRATEGIES SUPPORTING POSITIVE BEHAVIOR, PRO-SOCIAL PEER INTERACTION AND OVERALL SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL COMPETENCE IN YOUNG CHILDREN.
 3. PROVIDE INDIVIDUALIZED SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL INTERVENTION SUPPORTS FOR CHILDREN WHO NEED THEM; INCLUDING METHODS FOR UNDERSTANDING CHILD BEHAVIOR AND DEVELOPING, ADOPTING AND IMPLEMENTING A TEAM-BASED (I.E., FAMILY, CENTER ADMINISTRATOR, TEACHER, DEVELOPMENT SPECIALIST, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER CONSULTANT, ETC.) POSITIVE BEHAVIOR SUPPORT PLAN WITH THE INTENT TO REDUCE CHALLENGING BEHAVIOR AND PREVENT SUSPENSIONS AND EXPULSIONS.
 4. ACCESS AN EARLY CHILDHOOD MENTAL HEALTH CONSULTANT OR OTHER SPECIALIST AS NEEDED.
- JL. The procedure, including notification of parents or guardians, for handling children's illnesses, accidents, and injuries.
- KJ. The procedures for responding to emergencies such as lost children, tornadoes, and fires.
- LK. The procedure for transporting children, if applicable, including transportation arrangements and parental permission for excursions and related activities.
- ML. The written policy and procedure governing field trips, television and video viewing, and special activities, including ~~the~~ staff's responsibility for the supervision of children.
- NM. The policy on children's safety related to riding in a vehicle, seating, supervision, and emergency procedures on the road.
- ON. The procedure for releasing children from the center only to persons for whom the center has written authorization.
- PO. The procedures followed when a child is picked up from the center after the center is closed or not picked up at all, and to ensure that all children are picked up before the staff leave for the day.

- QP. The procedure for caring for children who arrive late to the center and their class/group is away from the center on a field trip or excursion.
- RQ. The procedure for storing and administering children's medicines and delegation of medication administration in compliance with Section 12-38-132, C.R.S., of the "Nurse Practice Act".
- SR. The procedure concerning children's personal belongings and money.
- TS. The policy concerning meals and snacks.
- UT. The policy on diapering and toilet training.
- YU. The policy regarding visitors to the center.
- WV. The policy on parent and staff conferences to inform the parents or guardians of the child's behavior, progress, and social and physical needs.
- XW. The procedure for filing a complaint about child care (see 7.701.5, General Rules for Child Care Facilities).
- YX. The policy regarding the reporting of child abuse (see 7.701.5, General Rules for Child Care Facilities).
- ZY. The policy regarding notification when child care service is withdrawn and when parents or guardians withdraw their children from the center.
- Z. THE POLICY REGARDING HOW DECISIONS ARE MADE AND WHAT STEPS ARE TAKEN PRIOR TO THE SUSPENSION, EXPULSION OR REQUEST TO PARENTS OR GUARDIANS TO WITHDRAW A CHILD FROM CARE DUE TO CONCERNs ABOUT THE CHILD'S BEHAVIORAL ISSUES. THESE PROCEDURES MUST BE CONSISTENT WITH THE CENTER'S POLICY ON GUIDANCE, POSITIVE INSTRUCTION, DISCIPLINE AND CONSEQUENCES AND INCLUDE DOCUMENTATION OF THE STEPS TAKEN TO UNDERSTAND AND RESPOND TO CHALLENGING BEHAVIOR.

7.702.42 Communication, Emergency, and Security Procedures [Rev. eff. 4/1/15]

- A. The center must notify the parents or guardians in writing of significant changes in its services, policies, or procedures so that they can decide whether the center continues to meet the needs of the child.
- B. For security purposes, a sign-in/sign-out sheet or other mechanism for parents and guardians must be maintained daily by the center. It must include, for each child in care, the date, the child's name, the time when the child arrived at and left the center, and the parent or guardian's signature or other identifier.
- C. The center must have a working telephone with the number available to the public. Emergency telephone numbers of the following must be posted near the telephone: a 911 notice, where 911 is available, or rescue unit if 911 isn't available; a hospital or emergency medical clinic; the local fire, police, and health departments; and Rocky Mountain Poison Control. The telephone must be available to staff at all times that the center is in operation.
- D. The center must be able to provide emergency transportation to a health care facility at all times.
- E. The director of the center or the director's delegated substitute must have a means for determining at all times who is present at the center.

- F. A written policy regarding visitors to the center must be posted and a record maintained daily by the center that includes at a minimum the visitor's name and address and the purpose of the visit. At least one piece of identification must be inspected for individuals who are strangers to personnel at the center.
- G. The center must release the child only to the adult(s) for whom written authorization has been given and is maintained in the child's record (see 7.702.101). In an emergency, the child may also be released to an adult for whom the child's parent or guardian has given verbal authorization. If the staff member who releases the child does not know the adult, identification must be required to assure that the adult is authorized to pick up the child.
- H. The center must have a procedure for dealing with individuals not authorized by the parent or guardian of a child who attempts to have the child released to them.
- I. The center must have a written emergency procedure to report communicable illnesses to the local health department pursuant to regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment.
- J. The center must have a written procedure for closing the center at the end of the day to ensure that all children are picked up.

7.702.43 Personnel Policies, Orientation, and Staff Development [Rev. eff. 6/1/12]

- A. The duties and responsibilities of each staff position and the lines of authority and responsibility within the center must be in writing.
- B. At the time of employment, staff members must be informed of their duties and assigned a supervisor.
- C. Prior to working with children, the EACH staff member must read and be instructed about the policies and procedures of the center, including those related to hygiene, sanitation, food preparation practices, proper supervision of children, and reporting of child abuse. Staff members must sign a statement indicating that they have read and understand the center's policies and procedures.
- D. STAFF HIRED ON OR AFTER SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 MUST COMPLETE A DEPARTMENT APPROVED PRESERVICE TRAINING PRIOR TO WORKING WITH CHILDREN. THE TRAINING MUST INCLUDE:
 1. BUILDING AND PHYSICAL PREMISS SAFETY, INCLUDING IDENTIFICATION OF AND PROTECTION FROM HAZARDS THAT CAN CAUSE BODILY INJURY SUCH AS ELECTRICAL HAZARDS, BODIES OF WATER, AND VEHICULAR TRAFFIC.
 2. HANDLING AND STORAGE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AND THE APPROPRIATE DISPOSAL OF BIO CONTAMINENTS.
- E. EACH STAFF MEMBER WORKING WITH INFANTS UNDER TWELVE (12) MONTHS OLD MUST COMPLETE A DEPARTMENT APPROVED SAFE SLEEP TRAINING BY DECEMBER 31, 2015. EACH STAFF MEMBER HIRED AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2015 MUST COMPLETE A DEPARTMENT APPROVED SAFE SLEEP TRAINING PRIOR TO WORKING WITH INFANTS UNDER TWELVE (12) MONTHS OLD.
- F. EACH STAFF MEMBER WORKING WITH CHILDREN UNDER THREE (3) YEARS OLD MUST COMPLETE A DEPARTMENT APPROVED AUBSIVE HEAD TRAUMA TRAINING BY SEPTEMBER 31, 2016. EACH STAFF MEMBER HIRED AFTER SEPTEMBER 31, 2016 MUST

COMPLETE A DEPARTMENT APPROVED ABUSIVE HEAD TRAUMA TRAINING PRIOR TO WORKING WITH INFANTS UNDER 12 (TWELVE) MONTHS OLD.

FG. All staff must complete at least 1 1/2 hours of training in universal precautions within 3 months of employment at the center and at least every 3 years thereafter. A DEPARTMENT APPROVED STANDARD PRECAUTIONS TRAINING THAT MEETS CURRENT OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION (OSHA) REQUIREMENTS PRIOR TO WORKING WITH CHILDREN. THIS TRAINING MUST BE RENEWED ANNUALLY AND COUNTS TOWARDS ONGOING TRAINING REQUIREMENTS. Renewal of universal precautions training may be part of the first-aid training.

H. EACH EMPLOYEE AND REGULAR VOLUNTEER MUST BE TRAINED ANNUALLY USING DEPARTMENT APPROVED TRAINING ABOUT CHILD ABUSE PREVENTION, INCLUDING COMMON SYMPTOMS AND SIGNS OF CHILD ABUSE.

I. ALL EMPLOYEES AND REGULAR VOLUNTEERS MUST BE TRAINED ANNUALLY USING DEPARTMENT APPROVED TRAINING ON HOW TO REPORT, WHERE TO REPORT AND WHEN TO REPORT SUSPECTED OR KNOWN CHILD ABUSE OR NEGLECT.

DJ. The child care center must ensure that all staff are familiar with the licensing rules governing child care centers within 90 30 days of employment at the center.

EK. The center must have a staff development plan that includes a minimum of fifteen (15) clock hours of training each year for all staff. The training must relate to one or more of the following areas child growth and development, healthy and safe environment, developmentally appropriate practices, guidance, family relationships, cultural and individual diversity, and professionalism. ALL STAFF WHO WORK WITH CHILDREN MUST COMPLETE A MINIMUM OF FIFTEEN (15) CLOCK HOURS OF TRAINING EACH YEAR BEGINNING WITH THE START DATE OF THE EMPLOYEE. AT LEAST THREE (3) CLOCK HOURS PER YEAR MUST BE IN THE FOCUS OF SOCIAL EMOTIONAL DEVELOPMENT.

1. EACH ONE (1) SEMESTER CREDIT HOUR COURSE TAKEN AT A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY SHALL COUNT AS 15 CLOCK HOURS OF ONGOING TRAINING.
2. TRAINING HOURS COMPLETED CAN ONLY BE COUNTED DURING THE YEAR TAKEN AND CANNOT BE CARRIED OVER.

L. ONGOING TRAINING AND COURSES SHALL DEMONSTRATE A DIRECT CONNECTION TO ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING COMPETENCY AREAS:

1. CHILD GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT AND LEARNING OR COURSES THAT ALIGN WITH THE COMPETENCY DOMAINS OF CHILD GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT.
2. CHILD OBSERVATION AND ASSESSMENT
3. FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP
4. GUIDANCE
5. HEALTH, SAFETY AND NUTRITION
6. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND LEADERSHIP
7. PROGRAM PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
8. TEACHING PRACTICES

M. TO BE COUNTED FOR ONGOING TRAINING, A PROVIDER MUST HAVE DOCUMENTATION THAT INCLUDES:

1. THE TITLE OF THE TRAINING; AND
2. THE COMPETENCY DOMAIN; AND
3. THE DATE AND CLOCK HOURS OF THE TRAINING; AND
4. THE NAME OR SIGNATURE, OR OTHER APPROVED METHOD OF VERIFYING THE IDENTITY OF TRAINER OR ENTITY; AND
5. EXPIRATION OF TRAINING IF APPLICABLE;
6. CONNECTION TO SOCIAL EMOTIONAL FOCUS IF APPLICABLE

N. STAFF RESPONSIBLE FOR COLLECTION, REVIEW AND MAINTENANCE OF THE CHILD IMMUNIZATIONS RECORDS MUST COMPLETE THE DEPARTMENT APPROVED COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (CDPHE) IMMUNIZATION COURSE ANNUALLY.

GO. If volunteers are used by the center, there must be a clearly established policy in regard to their function, orientation, and supervision. See also Section 7.702.54, DE.

P. WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE LAST DAY OF EMPLOYMENT, STAFF MEMBERS MUST BE PROVIDED A LETTER VERIFYING THEIR EXPERIENCE AT THE CENTER. THE LETTER MUST CONTAIN THE CENTER'S ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND LICENSE NUMBER, THE EMPLOYEE'S START AND END DATE AND THE TOTAL NUMBER OF HOURS WORKED WITH CHILDREN. HOURS WORKED WITH INFANTS AND TODDLERS MUST BE DOCUMENTED SEPARATELY FROM HOURS WORKED WITH OTHER AGE GROUPS. THE LETTER MUST BE SIGNED BY A DIRECTOR, OWNER OR HUMAN RESOURCES AGENT OF THE CENTER OR GOVERNING BODY.

7.702.44 Department of Defense Quality Standards Pilot Program [Eff. 7/1/12]

~~The Department of Defense Quality Standards Pilot Program allows military families to use federal child care stipends to obtain off base child care in facilities that meet Department of Defense Quality Child Care Standards. Pursuant to Section 26-6-601, C.R.S., et seq.:~~

A. Pilot sites shall have at least the following components

1. Special needs services; and,
2. Staff development and training; and,
3. Family support services; and,
4. A State Department of Human Services approved quality rating and improvement system.

B. Pilot sites shall comply with:

1. The Department of Defense Quality Child Care Standards (Standards), also known as the Effectiveness Rating Improvement System (ERIS), dated December 16, 2010, is incorporated by reference. This rule does not include any later amendments or editions of the Standards. The Standards can be found at: http://www.coamilitarychildcare.org/files/ERIS_2009.pdf, or on the Colorado Department of Human Services, Division of Child Care, website; and, are available for public inspection during regular business hours at the Colorado Department of Human Services, Division of Child Care, 1575 Sherman Street, Denver, Colorado 80203. Copies of the Standards are available from the Colorado Department of Human Services for a reasonable charge that comports with the Department's record request practices; and,

2. To the extent the rules do not conflict with the Standards, the General Rules located at Section 7.701 and the Rules Regulating Child Care Centers located at Section 7.702; and,
3. Applicable federal regulations.

C. Pilot program sites shall assist and comply with data gathering associated with the pilot program.

D. If the Department pursues a fee, the procedure to establish a fee to charge pilot site facilities for any additional inspections and services required for the Department to implement the pilot, is as follows:

1. The Department will perform a cost assessment based upon the number of additional inspections and/or services required to effectively implement the pilot, and the number of pilot sites to be inspected and served.
2. Pilot sites will be notified of the cost assessment and have the opportunity to review the cost assessment and provide feedback.
3. The fee will be reviewed and approved by the Executive Director or his/her designee.

E. The pilot program is repealed, effective June 30, 2015.

7.702.5 PERSONNEL

7.702.51 General Requirements for All Personnel

- A. All personnel at the center must demonstrate an interest in and a knowledge KNOWLEDGEABLE DECISION-MAKING, JUDGEMENT of children and concern for their proper care and well-being OF CHILDREN.
- B. STAFF, SUBSTITUTES, OR VOLUNTEERS MUST NOT CONSUME OR BE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF ANY SUBSTANCE THAT INPAIRS THEIR ABILITY TO CARE FOR CHILDREN.
- C. ILLEGAL DRUGS, DRUG PARAPHERNALIA, MARIJUANA AND ALCOHOL MUST NEVER BE PRESENT ON THE PREMISES OF THE CENTER DURING OPERATING HOURS.
- D. WHEN CARING FOR CHILDREN, STAFF MUST REFRAIN FROM PERSONAL USE OF ELECTRONICS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO CELL PHONES AND PORTABLE ELECTRONIC DEVICES.

BE. The center must determine if any staff person who works at the center has ever been convicted of a crime as found at Section 7.701, D, 5 or 6 of the General Rules for Child Care Facilities.

CF. A criminal record check request must be submitted to the Colorado Bureau of Investigation within 5 days that an individual is employed by the center. The personnel file of each staff member of the center must contain clearance or arrest report from the Colorado Bureau of Investigation resulting from the staff member's criminal record check. The requirement for a criminal record check is found in Section 7.701.33 of the General Rules for Child Care Facilities.

DG. A request for a review of the State Department's automated system must be made within 10 working days of each staff member's first day of employment. The method for making the request is found in Section 7.701.32 of the General Rules for Child Care Facilities.

- EH. Staff members must be current for all immunizations routinely recommended for adults by their health care provider.
- FI. All staff members must submit to the center a medical statement, signed and dated by a licensed physician or other health care professional, verifying that they are in good mental, physical, and emotional health appropriate for the position for which they have been hired. This statement must be dated no more than 6 months prior to employment or within 30 days after the date of employment. This statement must indicate when subsequent medical statements are required.
Subsequent medical statements must be submitted as required in writing by a physician or other health care professional.
- GJ. If, in the opinion of a physician or mental health practitioner, an employee's examination or test results indicate a physical, emotional, or mental condition that could be hazardous to a child, other staff, or self, or that would prevent satisfactory performance of duties must not be assigned or returned to a position until the condition is cleared to the satisfaction of the examining physician.

7.702.52 Director Qualifications - Large Child Care Center [Rev. eff. 5/1/10]

A. The educational requirements for the director or substitute director of a large center must be met by satisfactory completion of one of the following. (All course hours are given in semester hours, but equivalent quarter hours are acceptable.) Official college transcripts must be submitted to the Department for evaluation of qualifications.

1. A BACHELOR DEGREE IN EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION FROM A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLORADO COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY. ADDITIONAL EXPERIENCE IS NOT REQUIRED.
2. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL IV VERSION 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION. ADDITIONAL EXPERIENCE IS NOT REQUIRED.
- 43 All individuals with a Bachelor's or Master's degree with a major emphasis in child development, early childhood education, or early childhood special education and all other individuals submitting official transcripts for evaluation and/or completing necessary college coursework to become qualified as a director of a large center must complete a three (3) semester hour course from a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the following subject or content areas:
 - a. Introduction to early childhood professions;
 - b. Introduction to early childhood lab techniques;
 - c. Early childhood guidance strategies for children;
 - d. Early childhood health, nutrition, and safety;
 - e. Administration of early childhood care and education programs;
 - f. Administration: human relations for early childhood professions or introduction to business;

- g. Early childhood curriculum development;
- h. Early childhood growth and development.

~~Effective May 31, 2011, the following two (2) three (3) semester hour college courses, in addition to the courses listed in Section 7.702.52, A, 1, must be taken from a regionally accredited college or university at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the following subject or content areas for a total of thirty (30) semester hours:~~

- aI. The exceptional child;
- bJ. Infant/toddler theory and practice; or the Department approved expanding quality infant/toddler training.

~~24. Completion of a course of training approved by the State Department that includes course content listed at Section 7.702.52, A, 3 a-j7, and experience listed at Section 7.702.52, B.~~

~~1. Completion of the Advanced Credential Assessment (formerly called the Challenge Test) through the Colorado Office of Professional Development with a score of eighty percent or better; in addition, experience listed at Section 7.702.52, B, is required.~~

~~B. All individuals holding a valid approval letter for director qualifications from the Department of Human Services that matches official Department records are required to take, or have taken, the following five (5) three (3) semester hour courses.~~

~~1. One course must be taken every two (2) years from a regionally accredited college or university at either a two year, four year or graduate level in each of the following subject or content areas:~~

- a. Early childhood guidance strategies;
- b. Early childhood health, nutrition and safety or child nutrition;
- c. The exceptional child;
- d. Infant/toddler theory and practice; or expanding quality in infant and toddler training;
- e. Administration: human relations for early childhood professions.

~~2. Official transcripts from a regionally accredited college or university of the one (1) or more of the five (5) courses shall be submitted to the State Department within thirty days of completing each course until all five (5) courses have been completed. The first course must be completed by May 31, 2012.~~

~~3. Directors of public school preschools must attend a Department approved course of training in nutrition and implementation of rules regulating child care.~~

~~4. All college course grades for large or small child care center director qualification must be a "C" or better.~~

~~B. The experience requirements for the director of a large center must be met by completion of the following amount of work experience in a child development program, which includes working with a group of children in such programs as a preschool, child care center, kindergarten, or Head Start program:~~

5. ~~Persons with Bachelor's or Master's degree with a major emphasis in child development, early childhood education, or early childhood special education, no additional experience is required.~~

71. Persons with a 2-year college degree in early childhood education must have twelve (12) months (1,820 hours) of verified experience working directly with children in a child development program.

72. Persons with a Bachelor's degree and completion of courses specified in Sections 7.702.52, A, 1-2, must have twelve (12) months (1,820 hours) of verified experience working directly with children in a child development program.

63. Persons who have no degree but have completed the twenty-four (24) semester hours specified in Section 7.702.52, A, 1-2, must have twenty-four (24) months (3,640 hours) of verified experience working directly with children in a child development program.

74. Verified experience acquired in a licensed COLORADO family child care home or school-age child care center may count for up to half of the required experience for director qualifications. To have COLORADO family child care home experience considered, the applicant must be or have been the licensee. The other half of the required experience must be working directly with children in a child development program.

85. Experience with five (5) year olds must be verified as follows:

- a. If experience caring for five year old children occurs in a child care center classroom, the hours worked shall be counted as preschool experience;
- b. If experience caring for five year old children occurs in an elementary school program, the hours worked shall be counted as school-age experience.

C. RENEWAL OF LARGE CENTER DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS LETTER

1. PRIOR TO EXPIRATION DATE, INDIVIDUALS WITH A VALID APPROVAL LETTER FOR DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS FROM THE DEPARTMENT SHALL SUBMIT A RENEWAL APPLICATION WITHIN THE LAST SIX (6) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION WITH OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPTS SHOWING COMPLETION OF THREE (3) ADDITIONAL CREDIT HOURS FROM A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY IN THE FOLLOWING COMPETENCY AREAS:

- A. CHILD GROWTH, DEVELOPMENT AND LEARNING
- B. CHILD OBSERVATION AND ASSESSMENT
- C. FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP
- D. GUIDANCE
- E. HEALTH, SAFETY AND NUTRITION
- F. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND LEADERSHIP
- G. PROGRAM PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
- H. TEACHING PRACTICES

2. THE RENEWAL LETTER AND THE OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPTS MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT AND THE RENEWED DIRECTOR LETTER SHALL EXPIRE FIVE (5) YEARS FROM APPROVAL OF THE RENEWAL APPLICATION.

3. OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPTS FROM A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY OF THE ONE (1) OR MORE OF THE FIVE (5) COURSES MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF COMPLETING EACH COURSE UNTIL ALL FIVE (5) COURSES HAVE BEEN COMPLETED.

4. IN ADDITION TO ANNUAL ONGOING TRAINING OF FIFTEEN (15) HOURS EACH YEAR, DIRECTORS MEETING ALL LARGE CENTER DIRECTOR REQUIREMENTS IN SECTION 7.702.52.A, IN A FULL DAY CENTERS OPERATING MORE THAN SIX (6) HOURS A DAY MUST COMPLETE A THREE (3) SEMESTER CREDIT HOUR COURSE FROM A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY EVERY FIVE (5) YEARS IN A SUBJECT RELATED TO THE OPERATION OF A CENTER AND MUST BE ABLE TO DEMONSTRATE THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE COURSE TAKEN TO THE OPERATION OF THE CENTER.

D. REVOCATION OF LARGE CENTER DIRECTOR LETTER

1. LARGE CENTER DIRECTORS MUST HAVE A CURRENT DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS LETTER ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT PRIOR TO WORKING AS THE DIRECTOR OF A LARGE CENTER.
2. DIRECTOR LETTERS MUST BE RENEWED PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE OR THE LETTER BECOMES VOID AND THIS PERSON NO LONGER QUALIFIES AS A LARGE CENTER DIRECTOR.
3. AT THE TIME OF RENEWAL FOR A DIRECTOR LETTER, EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE MUST BE VERIFIED TO ENSURE QUALIFICATIONS ARE MET.
4. PERSONS MAY BE DENIED AN ORIGINAL OR RENEWAL OF A DIRECTOR LETTER, OR HAVE A DIRECTOR LETTER REVOKED IF SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE HAS BEEN FOUND THAT THE DIRECTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING AT ANY CHILD CARE FACILITY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO:
 - a. COMMITTED FRAUD
 - b. RESPONSIBLE FOR EGREGIOUS OR REPETITIVE NEGATIVE LICENSING
 - c. PROVIDING FALSE INFORMATION
 - d. PROVIDING FALSE TRANSCRIPTS FOR SELF OR STAFF
 - e. PROVIDING FALSE LETTERS OF EXPERIENCE FOR SELF OR STAFF
5. PERSONS WHO HAVE HAD A DIRECTOR LETTER REVOKED OR DENIED FOR THE REASONS LISTED IN SECTION 7.702.52.D.4.A-E MAY SUBMIT A NEW APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION AFTER A PERIOD OF TWO (2) YEARS FROM THE DATE OF DENIAL OR REVOCATION.
6. A PERSON ISSUED A NEW DIRECTOR LETTER AFTER A DENIAL OR REVOCATION SHALL RECEIVE A PROVISIONAL LETTER FOR NO LESS THAN NINE (9) MONTHS. AFTER THE PROVISIONAL PERIOD HAS BEEN COMPLETED, A NEW APPLICATION MAY BE SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION OF A FIVE (5) YEAR TIME LIMITED LETTER.
7. PERSONS WHOSE DIRECTOR LETTER HAS BEEN DENIED OR REVOKED FOR THE REASONS LISTED ABOVE IN SECTION 7.702.52.D.4.A-E MAY FILE AN APPEAL IN SECTION 7.701.13 GENERAL RULES FOR CHILD CARE FACILITIES.

E. At all times, every large child care center must have a substitute director that meets all of the requirements for director as listed at Section 7.702.52, A,B ~~1 or 7.702.52, A, 2~~. When the director of the large child care center cannot be present sixty percent (60%) of any day the center is in operation, the equally qualified substitute director must substitute for the director. In an emergency situation, when the equally qualified director substitute cannot be present, an individual that does not meet all of the director educational and experience requirements may substitute for the director for a maximum of two (2) weeks per calendar year if they meet one or more of the following requirements:

1. At least one year of experience as an early childhood teacher at the center.
2. A Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science in the human services field.
3. Qualification as an early childhood teacher and completion of at least half of the required coursework for director qualifications including the two (2) administration classes; administration of early childhood care and education programs and administration; human relations for early childhood professions.

EF. Whenever the director of a drop-in child care center cannot be present fifty percent (50%) of any day the center is in operation, a substitute that meets one of the following qualifications must be present:

1. At least one (1) year of experience as a qualified early childhood teacher at the drop-in child care center;
2. 18 months experience as a qualified early childhood teacher with children under 12 years of age and at least six (6) months experience at the drop-in child care center;
3. A Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree from a REGIONALLY accredited college or university in the human services field; or,
4. Qualification as an early childhood teacher and completion of at least half of the required coursework for director qualifications, including one of the administration classes.

7.702.53 Director Qualifications - Small Child Care Center [Rev. eff. 5/1/10]

A. The director or substitute director of a small center must have completed one of the following:

1. A CURRENT PROFESSIONAL TEACHING LICENSE ISSUED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION WITH AN ENDORSEMENT IN THE AREA OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION OR EARLY CHILDHOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION.
2. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL III VERSION 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.
3. Three (3) years' satisfactory experience in the group care of children under six (6) years of age (5460 hours) and at least two (2) 3-semester hours from a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the following subject or content areas in early childhood education; one of the courses must be either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies; or,
4. Two (2) years' college education (sixty semester hours) (60) at a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the following subject or content areas with at least two (2) 3-semester-hour courses in early childhood education; one of which must be either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies; and one (1) year (1820 hours) of satisfactory experience in the group care of children under six (6) years of age; or,
5. Current certification as a Child Development Associate (CDA) ~~or Certified Child Care Professional (CCP)~~ or other Department-approved credential; or,
6. A two (2) year college degree in child development or early childhood education from a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate

level, in each of the following subject or content areas that must include at least one 3-semester hour course in either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies and six (6) months (910 hours) satisfactory experience in the group care of children under six (6) years of age.

B. Satisfactory experience includes all options listed at Section 7.702.52.CB.

7.702.54 Qualifications for Other Staff Members [Rev. eff. 5/1/10]

A. Early Childhood Teacher

1. An early childhood teacher, assigned responsibility for a single group of children and working under the supervision of a director, must be at least eighteen (18) years of age and must meet at least one of the following qualifications:
 - a. A Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited college or university. ~~Effective May 1, 2010, WITH A major area of study for each Bachelor's degree shall be in one of the following areas:~~
 - 1). Early childhood education;
 - 2). Elementary education;
 - 3). Special education;
 - 4). Family and child development;
 - 5). Child psychology.
 - b. ~~Effective May 31, 2011, a~~ A Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited college or university with a major area of study in any area other than those listed at Section 7.702.54.BA.1, ~~must have AND ADDITIONAL~~ two (2) three-semester hour early childhood education college courses with one (1) course being either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies, ~~and at least six (6) months (910 hours) of satisfactory experience.~~
- C. CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL III VERSION 3.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.
- eD. A 2-year college degree, sixty (60) semester hours, in early childhood education from a regionally accredited college or university, which must include at least two (2) three-semester hour courses, one of which must be either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies; and at least six (6) months (910 hours) of satisfactory experience.
- d. ~~Completion of two (2) years of college education, sixty (60) semester hours, from a regionally accredited college or university with at least one (1) three-semester hour college course in early childhood education, plus six (6) months (910 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual. This option to be early childhood teacher qualified will not be available after May 31, 2011.~~
- e. ~~Completion of twelve (12) semester hours from a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the~~

~~following subject or content areas in early childhood education. By May 31, 2012, one of the three (3) semester hour courses must be either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies, plus nine (9) months (1,395 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual.~~

- ffE. Completion of a vocational or occupational education sequence in child growth and development plus twelve (12) months (1,820 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual.
- ffG. Current certification as a Child Development Associate (CDA) or Certified Child Care Professional (CCP) or other Department-approved credential.
- ffH. Completion of a course of training approved by the Department that includes training and work experience with children in a child growth and development program plus twelve (12) months (1,820 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual.
- ffI. ~~Thirty-six months (5,460 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children less than six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual. This option to be qualified as an early childhood teacher will not be available after May 1, 2010.~~
- ffJ. Twenty-four (24) months (3,640 hours) of verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual, SATISFACTORY EXPERIENCE INCLUDES BEING A LICENSEE OF A COLORADO FAMILY CHILD CARE HOME; A TEACHER'S AIDE OR TEACHER IN A CHILD CARE CENTER, PRESCHOOL, OR ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, plus either:
 - 1). A current Colorado Level I credential; or,
 - 2). Two (2) three-semester hour early childhood education college courses from a regionally accredited college or university, at either a two year, four year or graduate level, in each of the following subject or content areas with one (1) course being either introduction to early childhood education or guidance strategies.
- 2. ~~Verified experience in the care and supervision of four (4) or more children under six (6) years of age who are not related to the individual. Satisfactory experience includes being a licensee of a family child care home; a teacher's aide or teacher in a child care center, preschool, or elementary school.~~
- 3. All college course grades toward early childhood teacher qualifications must be "C" or better.

B. Kindergarten Teacher

- 1. Each teacher of a kindergarten class must have the same qualifications as a director for a large center (see Section 7.702.52) or ~~be state certified or licensed as A FOUR (4) YEAR DEGREE FROM A REGIONALLY ACCREDITED COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY~~ IN elementary or ~~early childhood teacher~~ EDUCATION.

2. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL III VERSION 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.

C. ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER

1. AN ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER, ASSIGNED RESPONSIBILITY FOR A SINGLE GROUP OF CHILDREN DURING TIMES SPECIFIED IN 7.702.55 MUST MEET ONE OF THE FOLLOWING QUALIFICATIONS:
 - a. PERSONS HAVING COMPLETED ONE (1) OF THE EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION COURSES IN SECTION 7.702.52.A, WITH A COURSE GRADE OF "C" OR BETTER AND TWELVE (12) MONTHS (1820 HOURS) VERIFIED EXPERIENCE IN THE CARE AND SUPERVISION OF FOUR (4) OR MORE CHILDREN LESS THAN SIX (6) YEARS OLD, WHO ARE NOT RELATED TO THE INDIVIDUAL. SATISFACTORY EXPERIENCE INCLUDES BEING A LICENSEE OF A FAMILY CHILD CARE HOME; A TEACHER'S AIDE IN A CENTER, PRESCHOOL OR ELEMENTARY SCHOOL. ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER'S MUST BE ENROLLED IN AND ATTENDING THE SECOND (2ND) EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION CLASS WHICH WILL BE USED AS THE BASIS FOR THEIR QUALIFICATION FOR THE POSITION OF EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER; OR
 - b. PERSONS HAVING COMPLETED TWO (2) OF THE EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION CLASSES REFERENCED IN SECTION 7.702.52.A, WITH A COURSE GRADE OF "C" OR BETTER AND NO EXPERIENCE.
 - c. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL I VERSION 1.0 OR 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.

CD. Staff Aide

1. Staff aides must be at least 16 years of age and must work directly under the supervision of the director or an early childhood teacher.

2. Infant staff aides must be at least 18 years of age.

DE. Volunteers (see also Section 7.702.43.I,J)

1. Volunteers must have qualifications suitable to the tasks they are assigned.

2. Volunteers must be supervised and given instruction as to the center's policies and procedures.

3. VOLUNTEERS CAN ONLY BE USED TO MEET STAFF TO CHILD RATIO IF THEY ARE EQUALLY QUALIFIED AS AN EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER, ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER OR AIDE, HAVE COMPLETED BACKGROUND CHECKS AND HAVE COMPLETE STAFF FILES.

4. THE ONLY TIME A PARENT/GUARDIAN VOLUNTEER MAY BE ALONE WITH A CHILD OTHER THAN THEIR OWN WITHOUT COMPLETING ALL REQUIRED BACKGROUND CHECKS, IS WHILE DRIVING ON A FIELD TRIP.

5. VOLUNTEERS BETWEEN THE AGES OF TWELVE (12) AND SIXTEEN (16) MUST HAVE A WRITTEN PURPOSE FOR VOLUNTEERING AND TIME FRAMES MUST BE LIMITED TO LESS THAN TWO (2) HOURS PER DAY.

7.702.55 Required Staff and Supervision [Rev. eff. 5/1/10]

A. Staff-Child Ratios

1. ~~At any time when 9 or more children are present at the center, at least 2 adult staff members must be on duty. When 8 or fewer children are present, there must be at least 1 adult staff member working with the children and a second adult on call and immediately available. FOR FULL DAY PROGRAMS, DURING TIMES OF LOW ENROLLMENT AND/OR DURING THE FIRST (1ST) AND LAST HOUR OF THE DAY, WHEN EIGHT (8) OR FEWER CHILDREN ARE PRESENT, THERE MUST BE AT LEAST ONE (1) EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER OR ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER WORKING WITH THE CHILDREN AND A SECOND STAFF MEMBER IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE. THERE MUST BE NO MORE THAN TWO (2) CHILDREN UNDER THE AGE OF TWO (2) PRESENT.~~
2. The director or director substitute of the center must be present at the center at least 60 percent of any day that the center is open.
3. The director or substitute director of an extended hour drop-in child care center operating at least six days per week must be present at the center or involved in director activities at least fifty percent (50%) of the hours of operation of any day the center is in operation.
 - a. If the director is not on site at the center for a portion of any day the center is in operation, the director must be available by phone.
 - b. The director must be present in the center at least 30 hours each week.
4. There must be assigned at least a ONE (1) qualified ~~group leader~~ EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER SUPERVISING ~~for~~ each group of children UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN REGULATION. A DIRECTOR MAY BE THE TEACHER FOR ONE GROUP OF CHILDREN IF THEY ARE WORKING DIRECTLY WITH THAT GROUP.
5. FULL DAY PROGRAMS MAY HAVE ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHERS LEFT ALONE WITH CHILDREN PRESCHOOL AGE AND OLDER DURING THE FOLLOWING PERIODS OF OPERATION:
 - a. OPENING HOURS: AN ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER MAY BE ALONE WITH CHILDREN FOR THE FIRST TWO (2) HOURS OF A CENTER'S DAILY OPERATING HOURS.
 - b. NAP TIME: AN ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER MAY BE ALONE WITH CHILDREN FOR UP TO ONE (1) HOUR DURING NAP-TIME.
 - c. CLOSING HOURS: AN ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER MAY BE ALONE WITH CHILDREN FOR UP TO THE TWO (2) HOURS PRIOR TO THE CLOSING TIME OF A CENTER'S DAILY OPERATIONS.
 - d. TAKING CHILDREN TO THE RESTROOM.
6. AT LEAST ONE (1) STAFF MEMBER WITH CURRENT DEPARTMENT APPROVED MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION TRAINING AND DELEGATION MUST BE ON DUTY AT ALL TIMES.
7. NAP TIME RATIO MAY BE DOUBLED FOR CHILDREN TWO AND ONE HALF (2 1/2) YEARS OLD AND OLDER IN PRESCHOOL CLASSROOMS WHEN THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS HAVE BEEN MET:

- a. AT LEAST HALF OF THE CHILDREN ARE SLEEPING.
- b. ANOTHER STAFF MEMBER IS ONSITE IN THE CENTER AND IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE.
- c. MAXIMUM GROUP SIZE AND ROOM CAPACITY ARE NOT EXCEEDED.
- d. STAFF MEMBER SUPERVISING CHILDREN IS QUALIFIED AS AN EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER OR ASSISTANT EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER.

58. In determining staff-child ratios, only staff members who work directly with children are counted.

69. Formal kindergarten class sessions must have 1 staff member for each 25 or fewer children in attendance. At other parts of the day when children are in attendance, the ratio must be 1 staff member to each 15 or fewer children.

710. Children of the director or of staff members who attend the center and other children on the premises for supervision and care must be counted against the licensed capacity in the appropriate age groups.

811. In determining staff-child ratios, children who are in attendance for only part of the day are counted only while at the center.

912. Staff-Child Ratios

AGES OF CHILDREN	NUMBER OF STAFF
6 weeks to 18 months (infants)	1 staff member to 5 infants
12 months to 36 months	1 staff member to 5 toddlers
24 months to 36 months	1 staff member to 7 toddlers
2 1/2 years to 3 years	1 staff member to 8 children
3 years to 4 years	1 staff member to 10 children
4 years to 5 years	1 staff member to 12 children
5 years and older	1 staff member to 15 children
Mixed age group 2 1/2 years to 6 years	1 staff member to 10 children

- A. In other preschool age combinations, the staff ratio for the youngest child must be utilized if more than 20% of the group is composed of younger children. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO INFANTS AND TODDLERS. THE RATIO FOR TODDLER GROUPS IS BASED ON THE YOUNGEST CHILD IN THE GROUP.
- B. Drop-in child care centers may follow a ratio of one (1) adult for every eight (8) children for children in a mixed age group of 2 years of age to 12 years. 1-2 children 1 year of age to 2 years of age may join the preschool age group of children for short periods of time for structured activities as long as the 1 year old children are safely confined in a toddler seat or high chair.

4013. Maximum Group Size for Children

AGES OF CHILDREN	MAXIMUM GROUP SIZE
6 weeks to 18 months	10 infants
12 months to 36 months	10 toddlers
24 months to 36 months	14 toddlers
2 1/2 years to 3 years	16 children
3 years to 4 years	20 children
4 years to 5 years	24 children
5 years and older	30 children
Mixed age group 2 1/2 to 6 years of age	20 children

- A. In other preschool age combinations, the maximum group size for the youngest child must be utilized if more than 20% of the group is composed of younger children. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO INFANTS AND TODDLERS. THE GROUP SIZE FOR TODDLER GROUPS IS BASED ON THE YOUNGEST CHILD IN THE GROUP.
- B. Preschool age and school-age groups of children must be separated into age DEVELOPMENTALLY appropriate activities. Groups are not required to be separated from each other by permanent or portable dividers or walls.
- C. GROUP SIZE FOR CHILDREN IN PRESCHOOL AND SCHOOL AGE CLASSROOMS MAY BE EXCEEDED FOR CIRCLE TIME, MEAL AND SNACK TIME, SPECIAL OCCASIONS AND ACTIVITIES. THE ROOM CAPACITY MUST NOT BE EXCEEDED.
- D. Toddler-age groups of children must be separated from each other by permanent or portable dividers or other methods as approved by the Department.
- E. CHILDREN MUST BE CARED FOR IN THE ROOM LICENSED FOR THE YOUNGEST CHILD IN CARE, INCLUDING THE OUTDOOR PLAY AREA.

B. Service/Housekeeping Personnel

- 1. Service personnel must be available for housekeeping and food preparation as needed for adequate operation and maintenance of the center.
- 2. Assignment of housekeeping and maintenance duties to child care staff must not interfere with their supervisory responsibilities and child care duties.

C. CHILD CARE Health Consultant

- 1. Staff must consult with a currently Colorado licensed registered nurse with knowledge and experience in maternal and child health, a pediatric nurse practitioner or a family nurse practitioner, or a pediatrician at least once a month at the child care facility. The monthly consultation must be specific to the needs of the facility and include some of the following topics: training, delegation and supervision of medication administration and special health procedures, health care, hygiene, disease prevention, equipment safety, nutrition, interaction between children and adult caregivers, and normal growth and development. In part day preschools that operate less than four (4) hours per day or drop-in child care centers, consultation must occur as often as the nurse delegating medications requires.

2. The date and content of each consultation must be recorded and maintained in the center's files.
3. THE CENTER MUST MAINTAIN DOCUMENTATION INCLUDING THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT'S (CCHC) DEPARTMENT OF REGULATORY AGENCIES (DORA) PROOF OF RN OR MD CURRENT LICENSURE IN GOOD STANDING, A BRIEF BIOGRAPHY HIGHLIGHTING APPLICABLE KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE AND APPROXIMATE DATES WORKED AS A SCHOOL NURSE OR CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT COMMENCED.
4. IF THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) HAS NOT WORKED AS A SCHOOL NURSE OR A CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2016, THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) MUST COMPLETE THE DEPARTMENT APPROVED CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT TRAINING (CCHC) WITHIN SIX (6) MONTHS. THE CENTER MUST OBTAIN AND MAINTAIN PROOF OF COURSE COMPLETION.
5. NURSES WORKING AS A CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) PRIOR TO JANUARY 1 2016 MUST COMPLETE THE DEPARTMENT APPROVED CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) TRAINING BY JANUARY 1 2016. THE CENTER MUST OBTAIN AND MAINTAIN PROOF OF COURSE COMPLETION.
6. ALL CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANTS (CCHC) MUST COMPLETE THE DEPARTMENT APPROVED COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (CDPHE) IMMUNIZATION COURSE ANNUALLY.

D. Substitutes

1. Qualified staff must be available to substitute for regularly assigned staff that are sick, on vacation, or otherwise unable to be on duty.
2. In the absence of the director of a small center, an individual who meets director qualifications for a small center must substitute for the director.
3. If the director of a large center cannot be present sixty percent (60%) of any day, a center staff member or other individual who meets director qualifications as listed at Section 7.702.52 for a large center must substitute for the director.
4. When there is a director vacancy, a director-qualified substitute must be present at the center at least sixty percent (60%) percent of any day the center is open until a new director is appointed.
5. FOR EXTENDED DIRECTOR ABSENCES (MORE THAN TWO (2) WEEKS AND UP TO TWELVE (12) WEEKS PER CALENDAR YEAR) A STAFF MEMBER WITH FIFTY PERCENT (50%) OF THE DIRECTOR QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS COMPLETED IN EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE MAY SUBSTITUTE FOR THE DIRECTOR. DATES MUST BE DOCUMENTED AND ON FILE FOR REVIEW. A FULLY QUALIFIED SUBSTITUTE DIRECTOR MEETING QUALIFICATIONS IN SECTION 7.702.52 IS REQUIRED FOR ANY ABSENCE EXCEEDING TWELVE (12) WEEKS.
56. Substitutes for directors of part-day public school preschools may be from the sponsoring school system's list of approved substitutes. Substitutes who do not meet director qualifications must consult with a qualified director on administering the center in accordance with early childhood principles and practices and licensing rules.

7.702.56 Infant Nursery PROGRAM Staff [Rev. eff. 5/1/10]

A. Staff Requirements

1. If a center operates solely as an infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM, there must be a director who meets the qualifications for a director of either a small center or a large center (Sections 7.702.52 and 7.702.53), depending upon the number of children for which the infant center is licensed.
2. The infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM must have an infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor who has verified training and experience in one of the following:
 - a. A registered nurse, licensed to practice in Colorado, with a minimum of 6 months of experience in the care of infants.
 - b. A licensed practical nurse, licensed to practice in Colorado, with twelve (12) months of experience in the care of infants.
 - c. An adult who holds a certificate in infant and toddler care from ~~an~~ REGIONALLY accredited college or university with completion of a minimum of 30 semester hours in the development and care of infants and toddlers in a group setting.
 - d. An adult who is currently certified as a Child Development Associate (CDA) or ~~Certified Child Care Professional (CCP)~~ and has completed the Department approved expanding quality in infant and toddler development course of training ~~by May 31, 2012~~.

E. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL II VERSION 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, COMPLETION ONE (1) THREE (3) SEMESTER CREDIT HOUR CLASS IN INFANT/TODDLER DEVELOPMENT OR THE DEPARTMENT APPROVED EXPANDING QUALITY IN INFANT AND TODDLER DEVELOPMENT AND ONE (1) YEAR EXPERIENCE WORKING WITH INFANTS AND/OR TODDLERS.

ef. An adult who:

- 1). Is at least 19 years of age, and,
- 2). Is qualified as an early childhood teacher (Section 7.702.54.A), and,
- 3). Has a minimum of 12 months of verifiable full-day experience in the group care of infants or toddlers; and,
- 4). Has completed at least two (2) THREE (3)-semester hour college courses from a regionally accredited college or university on the development and care of infants and toddlers in a group setting, one (1) of which must be infant/toddler development or the Department approved expanding quality in infant and toddler development course of training ~~by May 31, 2012~~.

fg. An adult who:

- 1). Is at least 19 years of age, and

- 2). Is qualified as an early childhood teacher (Section 7.702.54.A), and
- 3). Has at least two (2) years of verifiable full-day experience in the group care of infants or toddlers, and
- 4). Will complete within the first 6 months of employment two (2) three-semester hour college courses from a regionally accredited college or university with one of the courses being infant/toddler development or the Department approved expanding quality in infant and toddler development ~~by May 31, 2012~~.

3. An infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM early childhood teacher must have completed eight (8) hours of orientation in the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM from the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor including, but not limited to, the following topics:

- a. Toys and equipment, appropriate activities for infants and toddlers, appropriate sleep positions for infants and toddlers, the safe and appropriate diaper change technique; and,
- b. At least 6 months of experience in the care of infants or toddlers; and,
- c. Meet qualifications for an early childhood teacher found at Section 7.702.54.A, or be qualified as an infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor.

4. The infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM staff aide must be at least eighteen (18) years old, must have completed eight (8) hours of orientation as listed above, at the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM and must work under the direct supervision of an infant early childhood teacher.

5. There must be at least one (1) staff member on duty in each infant room at all times who holds a current Department-approved First Aid and Safety certificate that includes CPR for all ages of children.

B. Required Staff and Supervision

(See chart in Section 7.702.55)

1. In the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM there must be a qualified infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor present 60 percent of the hours of operation of the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM who is responsible for the care of the infants. An individual qualified as an infant ~~nursery~~ group leader EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER must be responsible during the remaining time.
2. The infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor or an infant ~~nursery~~ group leader EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER must be assigned to each group of 10 or fewer infants in attendance. An infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM staff aide may be assigned to assist the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor or group leader EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER when 6 through 10 infants are in care in the group to maintain the staff ratio of 1 adult for each 5 infants.
3. There must be assigned at least 1 infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM supervisor in the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM for each 20 or fewer infants in attendance.

7.702.57 Toddler Nursery PROGRAM Staff

A. Staff Requirements

1. If a center operates solely as a toddler ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM, there must be a director who meets the qualifications for a director of either a large center or a small center (7.702.52 and 7.702.53), depending upon the number of children for which the toddler center is licensed.
2. The toddler ~~group leader~~ EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER, a staff member assigned responsibility for a single group and working under the supervision of the director, must meet at least one of the following qualifications:
 - a. A registered nurse, licensed to practice in Colorado, with a minimum of 6 months of experience in the care of infants and/or toddlers.
 - b. An adult who holds a certificate in infant and toddler care from an REGIONALLY accredited college or university with completion of at least 30 semester hours or equivalent in such courses as child growth and development, nutrition, and care practices with children birth to 3 years old.
 - c. An adult who is certified as a Child Development Associate (CDA) or Certified Child Care Professional (CCP) or holds another Department-approved certificate.
 - d. A licensed practical nurse with at least 12 months of verifiable experience in the care of children less than 3 years old.
 - e. An adult who meets the education and experience requirements for ~~group leader~~ EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER of a large center (Section 7.702.54.A).
- F. A CURRENT EARLY CHILDHOOD PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIAL LEVEL II VERSION 1.0 OR 2.0 AS DETERMINED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.
3. Staff aides must be at least 16 years of age, must work directly under the supervision of the director or a toddler ~~group leader~~ EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER, and must have completed 8 hours of orientation at the toddler ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM.
4. For every 15 or fewer toddlers, there must be at least 1 staff member in the toddler ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM at all times who has a current Department-approved first aid and safety certificate that includes CPR for all ages of children.

B. Staff-Child Ratio & Group Size

(See chart in Section 7.702.55)

One qualified toddler ~~group leader~~ EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER must be assigned to each group at all times, and additional staff must be assigned to meet the required staff-child ratio.

7.702.58 Infant and Toddler Nurseries PROGRAMS Affiliated with Public School Teen Parent Programs

- A. Infant ~~nursery~~ programs affiliated with teen parent programs that are operated by accredited public school systems and on school premises may substitute the following age requirements for those at Section 7.702.2, B, 3.
 1. The minimum age of infants in care is 7 days.

2. Infants between the ages of 7 and 14 days may be accepted for care only with written approval from a health care professional and if there are no medical complications for the infant and/or teen mother.
3. Infants 14 days of age and over may be accepted for care if there are no medical complications for the infant and/or teen mother.
4. The maximum age of infants in care may be extended only in those situations where no teen parent program toddler ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM exists. In this circumstance, an infant may remain in the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM until the end of the school semester in which the infant becomes 18 months old.

B. Infant and toddler ~~nursery~~ programs affiliated with teen parent programs that are operated by accredited public school systems on school premises may substitute the following staff requirements for those at 7.702.56 and 7.702.57:

1. Director qualifications may be met by a certified teacher with a major in home economics education or a vocationally credentialed teacher in consumer and homemaking or early childhood occupations. The director must complete at least 3 semester hours in administration of a child care center.
2. The director must be present in the ~~nursery~~ INFANT CLASSROOM or adjacent teen parent classroom at least 60 percent of any day the center is open.
3. If the director cannot be present 60 percent of any day, an individual who meets director qualifications must substitute for the director.
4. Infant staff aides must be at least 15 years of age and may be parents-to-be, parents of enrolled infants, or students enrolled in a child care related course with the sponsoring school system.
5. Substitutes for ~~nursery~~ INFANT PROGRAM staff must be from the sponsoring school system's list of approved substitute ~~nursery~~ staff members. Substitutes who do not meet minimum staff qualifications can work in the ~~nursery~~ no more than 10 consecutive days per assignment.
6. Substitutes for ~~nursery~~ INFANT PROGRAM staff must hold a current department-approved first aid and safety certificate that includes CPR for all ages of children.

7.702.6 CHILD CARE SERVICES

7.702.61 Admission Procedure

A. The center ~~can~~ MUST accept AND CARE ONLY FOR children ~~only~~ of the ages for which it has been licensed. At no time ~~can~~ SHALL the number of children in attendance exceed the number for which the center has been licensed. Rev. eff. 11/1/01

B. Admission procedures must be completed prior to the child's attendance at the center and must include:

1. A pre-admission interview with the child's parent(s) or guardian(s) to determine whether the services offered by the center will meet the needs of the child and the parent(s) or guardian(s).

2. Explanation of the center's policies and procedures. Parents' signatures must be secured, indicating that they have read and agree to the center's policies and procedures.
3. Completion of the registration information required for inclusion in the child's record as required in Section 7.702.101.
4. IF APPLICABLE, A HEALTH CARE PLAN AUTHORIZED BY THE CHILD'S HEALTH CARE PROVIDER AND PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) DEFINING THE INTERVENTIONS NEEDED TO CARE FOR A CHILD WHO HAS AN IDENTIFIED HEALTH OR DEVELOPMENTAL CONDITION OR CONCERN INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: SEIZURES, ASTHMA, DIABETES, SEVERE ALLERGIES, HEART OR RESPIRATORY CONDITIONS, AND PHYSICAL OR EMOTIONAL DISABILITIES. THE STAFF WORKING WITH A CHILD WITH A HEALTH CARE PLAN MUST BE INFORMED, TRAINED, DELEGATED AND SUPERVISION OF THE PLAN AND INTERVENTIONS DOCUMENTED.

C. Special Needs Children

1. The admission of a childREN with special needs WHO HAVE SPECIAL HEALTH CARE NEEDS, DISABILITIES, OR DEVELOPMENTAL DELAYS WHICH INCLUDES CHILDREN WITH SOCIAL EMOTIONAL AND BEHAVIORAL NEEDS must be in ALIGNMENT WITH THE TRAINING AND ABILITY OF STAFF AND IN compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, and a SERVICES OFFERED MUST SHOW THAT A reasonable effort must be IS made to accommodate the child's needs and to integrate the child with other children. (See General Rules for Child Care Facilities, Section 7.701.14)
2. THE CENTER MUST INFORM ITS CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT (CCHC) PRIOR TO THE FIRST (1ST) DAY OF CARE, IF KNOWN, OF THE ENROLLMENT OF A CHILD WITH SPECIAL HEALTH CARE NEEDS SO STAFF RECEIVE TRAINING, DELEGATION AND SUPERVISION AS INDICATED BY THE CHILD'S INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN.
23. Upon enrollment of FOR a child with special health care needs REQUIRING INTERVENTION AND/OR MEDICATION, the center must obtain WRITTEN INSTRUCTIONS FOR PROVIDING SERVICES from the child's parent or guardian AND THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER. IF a copy of an existing individualized health care plan IS PROVIDED for the child that can IT MUST be reviewed, adopted, and implemented FOLLOWED by the center staff when providing child care services to CARING FOR the child. IF THE CHILD DOES NOT HAVE AN EXISTING INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN, THE INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN MUST BE OBTAINED BY THE CHILD'S FIRST DAY OF CARE.
4. At THE individualized health care plan MUST BE UPDATED AT LEAST EVERY TWELVE MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF THE INITIAL PLAN AND AS CHANGES OCCUR. THE PLAN shall MUST include the following as ALL INFORMATION needed TO CARE for the child, and must be signed by the health care provider AND MUST INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:
 - a. Medication schedule
 - b. Nutrition and feeding instructions
 - c. Medical equipment or adaptive devices, including instructions

- d. Medical emergency instructions
- e. Toileting and personal hygiene instructions
- F. BEHAVIORAL INTERVENTIONS
- G. MEDICAL PROCEDURE/INTERVENTION ORDERS

- 35. ***For a child with special health care needs, the center must obtain written instructions for providing services from the child's parents or legal guardian and the health care provider. If the child with special health care needs does not have an existing individualized health care plan, the individualized health care plan must be completed within 30 calendar days of the child's enrollment.***
- 46. The plan must be updated at least every 12 months from the date of the initial plan or as changes occur.
- 57. The center must inform its child care health consultant as soon as possible of the enrollment of a child with special health care needs so staff can receive training and support as indicated by the child's individualized health care plan.

- D. ***If the parent agrees that the center should care for a child in the infant nursery PROGRAM who is 18 months or older, the center must have on file a written statement from a licensed physician confirming that care for the child is appropriate in this infant nursery ROGRAM.***
- E. If the parent agrees that the center should care for a child in the toddler nursery PROGRAM who is 12 months old but not walking independently, or is over 36 months old, the center must have on file a written statement from a licensed physician confirming that care for the child is appropriate in this toddler nursery PROGRAM.

7.702.62 Health Care

- A. Statements of Health Status Rev. eff. 4/1/06
 - 1. At the time of admission, the center must obtain health information for each child entering the center, including any known allergies, medication being taken, special diets required, or any chronic health condition. The name, address, and phone number of the child's physician and dentist must be provided. The center must also obtain information regarding all immunizations a child has had, including month, date, and year each immunization was administered. Immunizations must be recorded on the Certificate of Immunization form supplied by the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) or an approved alternate certificate approved by CDPHE. If immunizations are contraindicated because of a medical condition, a statement from the child's health care provider must be on file.
 - 2. The parent or guardian of each child 2 1/2 years of age and over must submit a statement of the child's current health status signed and dated by an approved health care professional who has seen the child within the last 12 months. The statement of health status must be obtained at the time of admission or within 30 days after admission or for a drop-in child care center at the second visit, whichever is longer, must be kept at the center. If a child has an identified health condition or developmental concern including, but not limited to, seizures, asthma, diabetes, allergies, heart or respiratory conditions, and physical disabilities, information and instruction on care of the child must be included on the statement of health status signed by the physician. The center has the

~~right to refuse to admit a child if a statement from an approved health care professional is not submitted.~~

- ~~3. Subsequent statements of the child's current health status, signed and dated by an approved health care professional, must be obtained at least annually for each child 2 to 6 years of age and whenever the director has reason to suspect that a child participating in the program may have a condition potentially hazardous to others, or finds that the child's general condition indicates the need for such examination.~~
- ~~4. For children 6 years of age and older or who have completed the first grade, subsequent statements of health status must be submitted every 3 years thereafter.~~
- ~~5. For children attending a drop-in child care center, subsequent statements are not necessary if there have been no health changes in the child and the parent(s) attest in writing to the health status of the child on an annual basis. Children with special medical needs must have the statement from a health care professional as indicated at Section 7.702.62, A, 3-4.~~
- ~~6. If a parent or guardian of a child wishes an exemption from the requirement for immunizations due to religious or personal beliefs, a written statement signed by the child's parent or guardian which states the reason for such an exemption and that the child is in good health must be submitted to the center.~~

~~Parents must be notified in writing prior to their child's enrollment in the center if non-immunized children are admitted to the center. This information must be contained in the policies required at Section 7.702.41, F.~~

- ~~7. *In an infant nursery, at the time of admission or within 30 days, each infant's parent or guardian must submit a statement dated and signed by an approved health care professional. The statement must include information about the infant's health status and special needs. All immunizations must be recorded on the Certificate of Immunization supplied by CDPHE or an approved alternate certificate approved by CDPHE, including month, day, and year each immunization was administered, and must be on file the first day of admission.*~~
- ~~*Infants and toddlers under 2 years of age must follow the recommended Academy of Pediatrics schedule for routine health assessments*~~
- ~~8. *In a toddler nursery, at the time of admission or within 30 days, each toddler's parent or guardian must submit a statement of the child's health status as required at Section 7.702.62, A, 2, signed and dated by an approved health care professional who has seen the child within the last 6 months.*~~

1. THE CENTER HAS THE RIGHT TO REFUSE TO ADMIT A CHILD IF A STATEMENT FROM A HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL IS NOT SUBMITTED.
2. AT THE TIME OF ADMISSION, THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) MUST PROVIDE FOR EACH CHILD ENTERING THE CENTER:
 - A. DOCUMENTATION OF IMMUNIZATION STATUS OR EXEMPTION AS REQUIRED BY COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (CDPHE). IMMUNIZATIONS MUST BE UPDATED AND RECORDED AS SPECIFIED ON THE CERTIFICATE OF IMMUNIZATION OR ALTERNATE CERTIFICATE OF IMMUNIZATION AS SUPPLIED AND APPROVED BY THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

AND ENVIRONMENT (CDPHE). COLORADO LAW REQUIRES PROOF OF IMMUNIZATION BE PROVIDED PRIOR TO OR ON THE FIRST DAY OF ADMISSION.

- B. WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS AFTER ADMISSION, AND WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS FOLLOWING THE EXPIRATION DATE, THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) OF EACH CHILD MUST SUBMIT A STATEMENT OF THE CHILD'S CURRENT HEALTH STATUS OR WRITTEN VERIFICATION OF A SCHEDULED APPOINTMENT WITH A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER. THE STATEMENT OF THE CHILD'S CURRENT HEALTH STATUS MUST BE SIGNED AND DATED BY A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER WHO HAS SEEN THE CHILD WITHIN THE LAST TWELVE (12) MONTHS, OR WITHIN THE LAST SIX (6) MONTHS FOR CHILDREN UNDER TWO AND ONE-HALF (2½) YEARS OLD. THE STATEMENT MUST INCLUDE WHEN THE NEXT VISIT IS REQUIRED BY THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER. ALL HEALTH STATEMENTS MUST BE KEPT AT THE CENTER.
- C. STATEMENTS OF HEALTH STATUS OF CHILDREN UNDER TWO (2) YEARS OLD MUST BE UPDATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS RECOMMENDED SCHEDULE FOR ROUTINE HEALTH SUPERVISION OR AS REQUIRED IN WRITING BY HEALTH CARE PROVIDER.
- D. HEALTH STATEMENTS FOR CHILDREN OVER TWO (2) YEARS OLD TO SEVEN (7) YEARS OLD MUST BE UPDATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS RECOMMENDED SCHEDULE FOR ROUTINE WELL CHILD EXAMS.
- E. WHENEVER THE DIRECTOR HAS REASON TO SUSPECT A CHILD PARTICIPATING IN THE PROGRAM MAY HAVE A CONDITION POTENTIALLY HAZARDOUS TO THE CHILD OR OTHERS, OR FINDS THE CHILD'S GENERAL CONDITION INDICATES THE NEED FOR EXAMINATION THE DIRECTOR MUST REQUIRE A STATEMENT FROM THE CHILD'S HEALTH CARE PROVIDER APPROVING THE CHILD TO RETURN TO GROUP CARE.
- F. FOR CHILDREN SEVEN (7) YEARS OLD AND OLDER OR WHO HAVE COMPLETED THE FIRST (1ST) GRADE, SUBSEQUENT STATEMENTS OF HEALTH STATUS MUST BE OBTAINED EVERY THREE (3) YEARS OLD THEREAFTER.
- G. FOR CHILDREN ATTENDING A DROP-IN CENTER, SUBSEQUENT STATEMENTS ARE NOT REQUIRED IF THERE HAVE BEEN NO HEALTH CHANGES IN THE CHILD AND THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) ATTEST IN WRITING TO THE HEALTH STATUS OF THE CHILD ON AN ANNUAL BASIS. CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL MEDICAL NEEDS MUST HAVE THE STATEMENT FROM A HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL AS INDICATED IN SECTION 7.702.7.C.1-4

B. Emergency Procedures

- 1. At the time of admission, the center must obtain telephone numbers of the child's physician or other appropriate health care professional and numbers where the parent or guardian and at least 1 other responsible adult can typically be reached in the event of accident, illness, or other emergency.
- 2. The center must obtain written authority to arrange for medical care in the event of an emergency. This information must be on file the first day a child attends the center.
- 3. When accidents, injuries, or illnesses occur, the director or responsible adult in charge must notify the parent or guardian of the child and if necessary call the physician or medical facility as instructed in writing by the parent or guardian.

4. For every 30 or fewer children in attendance, there must be at least one (1) staff member on duty who holds a current department-approved first aid and safety certificate (including CPR for all ages of children) and is responsible for administering first aid and CPR to children. Such individuals must be with the children at all times when the center is in operation. If children are at different locations, there must be a first aid and CPR qualified staff member at each location.
5. Children too ill to remain in the group must be comfortably cared for and supervised until they can be taken home or suitably cared for elsewhere.
6. Portable first aid kits must be available to staff at all times, including field trips, and must be located out of reach of children and maintained in a sanitary condition. First aid kits must be checked and restocked on at least a monthly basis.

C. Medication

1. ~~Prescription and non-prescription (over the counter) medications for eyes or ears, all oral medications, topical medications inhaled medications, and certain emergency injections can be administered only with the written order of a person with prescriptive authority and with written parental consent. Centers may administer medications for chronic health conditions or emergency situations. ANY ROUTINE MEDICATION, PRESCRIPTION OR NON-PREScription (OVER-THE-COUNTER) MUST BE ADMINISTERED ONLY WITH A CURRENT WRITTEN ORDER OF A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER WITH PRESCRIPTIVE AUTHORITY AND WITH WRITTEN PARENTAL CONSENT. HOME REMEDIES SHALL NEVER BE GIVEN TO A CHILD.~~
2. The written order by the licensed prescribing practitioner must BY THE PERSON WITH PRESCRIPTIVE AUTHORITY SHALL include:
 - A. Child's name
 - B. Licensed prescribing practitioner name, telephone number, and signature
 - C. Date authorized
 - D. Name of medication and dosage
 - E. Time of day medication is to be given
 - F. Route of medication
 - G. Length of time the medication is to be given
 - H. Reason for medication (unless this information needs to remain confidential)
 - I. Side effects or reactions to watch for
 - J. Special instructions
3. Medications must be kept in the original labeled bottle or container. Prescription medications must contain the original pharmacy label. ~~that lists:~~
 - Child's name
 - Prescribing practitioner's name

- Pharmacy name and telephone number
- Date prescription was filled
- Expiration date of the medication
- Name of the medication
- Dosage
- How often to give the medication
- Length of time the medication is to be given

4. Over-the-counter medication must be kept in the originally labeled container and be labeled with the child's first and last name.

45. In the case medication needs to be given on an ongoing, long-term basis, the authorization and consent forms must be reauthorized on AT LEAST an annual basis. Any changes in the original medication authorization require a new written order by the prescribing practitioner and a change in the prescription label. Verbal orders taken from the licensed prescriber may be accepted only by a licensed registered nurse.

6. ACETAMINOPHEN OR IBUPROFEN IS ABLE TO BE USED MULTIPLE TIMES WITH ONE (1) CURRENT, SIGNED MULTI-USE MEDICATION ORDER FOR UP TO THREE (3) CONSECUTIVE DAYS IF THE ORDER IS SPECIFIC ABOUT WHEN THE MEDICATION IS TO BE GIVEN. THE MULTI-USE MEDICATION ORDER MUST BE RENEWED WITH EACH UPDATED HEALTH STATEMENT.

57. All child care staff designated by the center director to give medications must complete the 4-hour Department-approved medication administration training and have current ANNUAL DELEGATION OR MORE OFTEN AS DETERMINED BY THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT. DELEGATION MUST BE FROM THE CENTER'S CURRENT CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT. ALL STAFF ADMINISTERING MEDICATION MUST HAVE CURRENT CPR, first aid FIRST AID and universal STANDARD precautions training prior to administering medication WITH THE FOLLOWING EXCEPTIONS:

- A. STAFF DETERMINED BY THE DIRECTOR, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT, TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING EMERGENCY MEDICATIONS FOR THE TREATMENT OF SEVERE ALLERGIES OR INHALED MEDICATIONS FOR THE TREATMENT OF ASTHMA MUST RECEIVE TRAINING AND DELEGATION FROM THEIR CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT FOR THOSE MEDICATIONS ONLY. STAFF MUST THEN PROVIDE THOSE MEDICATIONS TO CHILDREN BASED ON THE INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE CHILD'S INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN.
- B. STAFF DETERMINED BY THE DIRECTOR, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT, TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING MEDICATIONS NOT COVERED IN THE APPROVED TRAINING SHALL ALSO BE PERMITTED TO ADMINISTER MEDICATIONS AND/OR MEDICAL TREATMENTS SUCH AS RECTAL DIASTAT, INSULIN OR OXYGEN WITH INDIVIDUALIZED TRAINING AND DELEGATION FROM THE CHILD

CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT BASED ON INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE CHILD'S INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN.

- C. STAFF MAY BE TRAINED AND DELEGATED IN THE ADMINISTRATION OF A SINGLE RESCUE MEDICATION OR RESCUE MEDICAL INTERVENTION BY THE CENTER'S CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT. SUCH TRAINING AND DELEGATION SHALL QUALIFY THE STAFF MEMBER TO PROVIDE A RESCUE MEDICATION OR TREATMENT FOR A SPECIFIC CHILD BASED ON INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE CHILD'S INDIVIDUALIZED HEALTH CARE PLAN.
- 8. Staff of drop-in child care centers may complete training from their nurse consultant delegating medication.
- 69. The center's licensed health consultant:
 - A. Must observe and document the competency of each staff member involved in medication administration
 - B. Must delegate to one or more of the child care staff the task of medication administration, to include routine medications only. For medications not covered in the medication training, the health consultant must provide additional training, delegate on a one-to-one (1:1) basis, and provide ongoing supervision.
- 710. ALL MEDICATIONS, EXCEPT THOSE SPECIFIED IN EMERGENCY MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION, must be kept in THE ORIGINAL CONTAINER IN A CLEAN AND LOCKED area, locked and inaccessible to children BUT AVAILABLE TO STAFF TRAINED TO ADMINISTER MEDICATION. IF REFRIGERATION IS REQUIRED, THE MEDICATION MUST BE STORED IN EITHER A SEPARATE REFRIGERATOR OR A LEAK PROOF CONTAINER IN A DESIGNATED AREA OF A FOOD STORAGE REFRIGERATOR, SEPARATE FROM FOOD AND INACCESSIBLE TO CHILDREN. Controlled medications must be counted and safely secured, and specific policies regarding their handling require special attention in the center's policies. Access to these medications must be limited (see Section 12-22-318, C.R.S.).
- 11. EMERGENCY MEDICATIONS MUST BE STORED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT'S RECOMMENDATION. EMERGENCY MEDICATIONS ARE NOT REQUIRED TO BE STORED IN A LOCKED AREA. EMERGENCY MEDICATIONS MAY BE STORED IN AN AREA EASILY ACCESSIBLE AND IDENTIFIABLE TO STAFF BUT OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN. WHEN AWAY FROM THE CLASSROOM, STAFF MUST CARRY EMERGENCY MEDICATIONS IN A BAG ON THEIR PERSON.
- 12. THE CENTER MUST HAVE A WRITTEN POLICY ON THE STORAGE AND ACCESS OF INHALERS AND EPINEPHRINE CARRIED BY SCHOOL AGE CHILDREN. THE POLICY MUST INCLUDE A WRITTEN CONTRACT WITH THE PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S) AND CHILD ACKNOWLEDGEMENT ASSIGNING LEVELS OF RESPONSIBILITY OF EACH INDIVIDUAL. THIS CONTRACT WILL ACCOMPANY ORDERS FOR THE MEDICATION FROM A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER ALONG WITH CONFIRMATION FROM THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER THAT THE STUDENT HAS BEEN INSTRUCTED AND IS CAPABLE OF SELF-ADMINISTRATION OF THE PRESCRIBED MEDICATIONS.
- 13. THE CENTER MUST HAVE A WRITTEN POLICY ON THE STORAGE AND ACCESS OF

INHALERS AND EPINEPHRINE FOR ALL CHILDREN IN CARE. THIS PROCESS POLICY MUST BE REVIEWED BY THE CHILD CARE HEALTH CONSULTANT.

14. Children are not allowed to bring medications to child care unless accompanied by a responsible adult. If a medication is out of date or left over, parents are responsible for picking up the medication. If parents do not respond, the center is responsible for the disposal of medications according to center policy and procedures. Disposal of medications must be documented.
915. A written medication log must be kept for each child. This log is part of the child's records. The log must contain the following:
 - A Child's name
 - B Name of the medication, dosage, and route
 - C Time medication is to be given
 - D Special instructions
 - E Name and initials of the individuals giving the medication
 - F Notation if the medication was not given and the reason
4016. Topical preparations such as petroleum jelly, diaper rash ointments, sunscreen, bug sprays, and other ointments may be administered to children with written parental authorization. These preparations may not be applied to open wounds or broken skin unless there is a written order by the prescribing practitioner.

D. Sun Protection

1. The center must obtain the parent or guardian's written authorization and instructions for applying sunscreen to their children's exposed skin prior to outside play. A doctor's permission is not needed to use sunscreen at the center.
2. When supplied for an individual child, the sunscreen must be labeled with the child's first and last name.
3. If sunscreen is provided by the center, parents must be notified in advance, in writing, of the type of sunscreen the center will use.
4. Children over 4 years of age may apply sunscreen to themselves under the direct supervision of a staff member.
5. THE CENTER MUST APPLY SUNSCREEN OR USE ANOTHER FORM OF PARENT OR GUARDIAN APPROVED SUN PROTECTION FOR CHILDREN PRIOR TO CHILDREN GOING OUTSIDE.

E. Control of Communicable Illnesses

1. When children have been diagnosed with a communicable illness such as hepatitis, measles, mumps, meningitis, diphtheria, rubella, salmonella, tuberculosis, giardia or shigella, the center must immediately notify the local health department or the State Department of Public Health and Environment, all staff members, and all parents and guardians of children in care. Children's confidentiality must be maintained.

2. The director must ask parents to report exposure of a child to communicable illness outside of the center, and, at the discretion of the director, the child should be excluded from the center for the period of time prescribed by the child's physician or by the local health department.

7.702.63 Personal Hygiene

A. Hand Washing

1. Children's hand washing must be supervised and must be taught when necessary.

B. Diapering

(See also Section 7.702.83.A.3)

~~The center must have one (1) or more designated diaper change areas for all children in need of diaper changing. The ALL diaper change areaS must:~~

1. Be a minimum of 36 by 18 inches in size and large enough to accommodate the size of the child
2. Be adjacent to or within reach of a hand washing sink
3. Have a place inaccessible to children for storing all diaper change supplies and disinfecting solutions and products
4. Have a sufficient supply of diapers at all times.

7.702.64 Physical Care [Rev. eff. 4/1/15]

A. General

1. All children must be under direct supervision of a responsible adult at all times.
2. The time a child arrives and leaves the center each day must be recorded. Attendance verification must be made periodically throughout the day by staff members at the center.
3. STAFF MUST BE AWAKE, ALERT AND SUPERVISING ALL CHILDREN.
34. The center must provide a rest period WITH rest equipment OF AT LEAST THIRTY (30) MINUTES for all preschool-age children remaining in the center longer than 4 hours. A rest period and QUIET ACTIVITIES ARE PERMISSIBLE DURING THE THIRTY (30) MINUTE PERIOD. ~~must also be provided for older children who require~~ING a rest time MUST BE GIVEN ONE.
5. CHILDREN MUST NOT BE FORCED TO SLEEP. CHILDREN WHO DO NOT SLEEP AFTER THIRTY (30) MINUTES MUST BE ALLOWED TO MOVE TO ANOTHER AREA AND BE PROVIDED WITH QUIET TOYS AND EQUIPMENT TO PLAY WITH SUCH AS PUZZLES OR BOOKS.
6. CHILDREN MUST BE ALLOWED TO LEAVE THEIR NAPPING AREA WITHIN TEN (10) MINUTES OF WAKING.
47. The center must provide mats or cots and a designated rest period for all preschool age children. Drop-in child care centers must provide mats or cots for at least fifty percent

(50%) of the licensed capacity of the center. ~~Children must not be forced to sleep. Children who do not sleep after a reasonable period of time must be provided with appropriate quiet toys and equipment to play with, such as puzzles or books.~~

58. The center must ensure that children are dressed appropriately for the weather before going outside.

B. Infant and Toddler Nurseries

1. The staff must have daily contact with adults who transport the infants and toddlers to and from the center.
2. Children must not be confined for prolonged periods of time to cribs, playpens, swings, high chairs, infant seats, or other equipment that confines movement. They must have an opportunity each day for freedom of movement, such as creeping, crawling, or walking in a safe, clean, open, uncluttered area.
3. Throughout the day, each child must have frequent, individual, personal contact and attention from an adult, such as being held, rocked, taken on walks inside and outside the center, talked to, and sung to.
4. ~~There must be no attempt to toilet train children under the age of eighteen (18) months CHILDREN MUST NOT BE TOILET TRAINED UNTIL THEY ARE ABLE TO VERBALIZE OR OTHERWISE INDICATE NEED, HELP MANIPULATING THEIR OWN CLOTHING, AND HELP ACCESSING TOILETING FACILITIES.~~
5. FOR EACH CHILD WHO IS LEARNING TO USE A TOILET, THE CHILD'S INDIVIDUAL DEVELOPMENTAL ABILITIES AND NEEDS MUST BE ACCOMMODATED AS STATED IN THE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR THE CENTER.
56. Staff must investigate whenever children cry.
67. Children must be allowed to form and observe their own pattern of sleep and waking periods. Special provision must be made so that children requiring a morning nap time have a separate area for their nap apart from space used for play.

C. ~~Safe Sleep Training for Infant Nursery~~ PROGRAM Staff

~~All staff who work with infants must complete a Department approved safe sleep training prior to working with infants, which must be renewed on an annual basis.~~

DC. Safe Sleep Environments for Infants

1. Each infant up to twelve (12) months of age must be provided with an individual crib or futon approved for infants or other approved sleep/rest equipment meeting Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) standards.
2. In the infant room, soft bedding or materials that could pose a suffocation hazard are not permitted in cribs, futons approved for infants or other approved sleep/rest equipment. Soft bedding means, but is not limited to, any soft sleep surface like bumper pads, pillows, blankets, quilts, comforters, sleep positioning devices, sheepskins, blankets, flat sheets, cloth diaper bibs, plush toys, and stuffed animals.
3. An infant must be placed on his/her back for sleeping.

4. Alternative sleep positions for infants must only be allowed with a health care plan completed and signed by the child's physician.
5. Swaddling of infants must only be allowed with a health care plan completed and signed by the child's physician.
6. Each infant up to twelve (12) months of age WHO USES A PACIFIER must have the pacifier offered when being put down to sleep, unless the parent directs otherwise. If the infant refuses the pacifier, s/he should not be forced to take it. After the infant falls asleep, there is no need to reinsert the pacifier if it falls out. Pacifiers should not be coated in any sweet solution, and they should be cleaned and replaced regularly. THE PACIFIER SHOULD BE SUITABLE FOR THE AGE AND SIZE OF THE INFANT. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO INFANTS WHO DO NOT USE A PACIFIER.
7. All sleep/rest equipment must be safe, sturdy, and free from hazards including, but not limited to: broken or loose slats, torn mattress, chipping paint or loose screws.
8. Approved sleeping equipment must be firm and mattresses must fit snugly ensuring no more than two fingers are able to be inserted between the mattress and the side of the approved sleeping equipment.
9. Toys, including mobiles and other types of play equipment that are designed to be attached to any part of sleeping equipment, must be kept away from sleeping infants and out of sleep environments, including hanging toys. Blankets and other items must not be hung from or draped over the sides or any part of sleeping equipment.
10. Drop side and stacking cribs are prohibited.
11. Bassinets and playpens are prohibited in child care centers unless licensed as a teen parent program when the teen parent(s) remain(s) on site.
12. Other sleep equipment not manufactured for commercial use is prohibited.
13. Infant monitors may only be used in separate sleeping rooms for infants under the following conditions:
 - a. The sound monitoring equipment is able to pick up the sounds of all sleeping infants.
 - b. The receiver of the sound monitoring equipment is actively monitored by staff at all times.
 - c. All sleeping infants must be physically observed at least every ten (10) minutes by a staff member.
 - d. Sound monitoring equipment must be regularly checked to ensure it is working correctly.
14. After December 31, 2015, separate sleep rooms must be prohibited in new construction, change of governing body and change of capacity in child care centers.
15. Infants who fall asleep in a car safety seat, bean bag chair, bouncy seat, infant seat, swing, jumping chair, play pen or play yard, highchair, chair, sofa, adult futon, adult bed or other piece of equipment not approved for sleep must immediately be moved to their approved sleep area and placed on their back to sleep.

16. Cribs must be used for sleeping, not extended play or confinement.
17. Children who are awake must not be confined for more than fifteen (15) minutes at a time to cribs, playpens, swings, high chairs, infant seats, or other equipment that inhibits freedom of movement. Children who are actively eating may be in a high chair or other approved feeding equipment for longer than fifteen (15) minutes. Children must be moved away from the feeding location once feeding is complete.
18. If music is played in the infant sleep area, the music must not be played at a loud volume that would prevent infants from being heard by staff. Music equipment must not be placed under a crib or within three (3) feet of the sleeping infant.
19. Supervised tummy time must be offered to infants one month of age or older up to twenty to thirty (20-30) minutes per day. If the infant falls asleep during tummy time, immediately place him/her on their back in approved sleeping equipment.
20. When staff place infants in approved sleeping equipment for sleep, they must check to ensure that the temperature in the room is comfortable for a lightly clothed adult, check the infants to ensure that they are comfortably clothed (not overheated or sweaty), and that bibs, necklaces, and garments with ties or hoods are removed. Clothing sacks or other clothing designed for sleep must be used in lieu of blankets if needed for additional warmth.
21. Infants must not be placed to sleep in the same crib or futon as another infant or child, and must never sleep with an adult in a bed, on a couch, or in any other setting or manner.

ED. The facility must have a policy on the protection of infants from second hand smoke.

7.702.65 Food and Nutrition

A. Meals & Snacks

1. ALL Meals and ~~nutritious~~ snacks must MEET CURRENT USDA CHILD AND ADULT CARE FOOD PROGRAM MEAL PATTERN REQUIREMENTS AND be served OFFERED at suitable intervals. Children who are at the center for more than 4 hours, day or evening, must be offered a meal. ~~that meets at least one third of the child's daily nutritional needs.~~
2. CENTERS MUST NOT PROVIDE SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGES TO CHILDREN. THESE ARE LIQUIDS THAT HAVE BEEN SWEETENED WITH VARIOUS FORMS OF SUGARS THAT ADD CALORIES AND INCLUDES BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO: SODA, FRUIT-ADES AND FRUIT DRINKS, AND SPORTS AND ENERGY DRINKS.
3. IF 100% FRUIT JUICE, WHICH IS NOT A SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE, IS OFFERED AS PART OF MEALS AND/OR SNACKS, IT MUST BE LIMITED TO NO MORE THAN TWICE PER WEEK.
24. The size of servings must be suitable for the child's age and appetite, and sufficient time must be allowed so that meals are unhurried.
35. In centers that do not regularly provide a meal, if a child brings a meal from home that does not appear to meet ~~one third of the child's daily nutritional needs~~ CURRENT USDA CHILD AND ADULT CARE FOOD PROGRAM MEAL PATTERN REQUIREMENTS, the center must have foods available to supplement that meal.

46. Staff members must sit with the children and encourage them to try a variety of food served. During meals, children should be encouraged to engage in conversation and to express their independence.
57. All food prepared by the center must be from sources approved by the local health department or the State Department of Public Health and Environment. All food must be prepared, served, and stored in such a manner as to be clean, wholesome, free from spoilage, and safe for human consumption. Home-canned vegetables, fruits, and meats cannot be served.
68. Meal menus must be planned at least 1 week in advance, dated, and posted in a place visible to parents. After use, menus must be filed and retained for 3 months. Records must be available for periodic review and evaluation.

B. Feeding the Infant

1. *An individualized diet and feeding schedule must be provided according to a written plan submitted by the parent or by the child's physician with the knowledge and consent of the parent. A change of diet and schedule must be noted on each child's daily activity schedule and posted in an area clearly visible to the nursery staff.*
2. Commercially prepared formula must be mixed according to the manufacturer's direction AND EACH BOTTLE MARKED WITH THE CHILD'S FIRST AND LAST NAME.
3. *All infants under 6 months of age must be held for bottle feeding. Bottles must not be propped. Older infants must not be allowed to hold their own bottles when lying flat. Bottles must not be allowed in a crib with the infant.*
4. *Older infants must be provided with suitable solid foods that encourage freedom in self-feeding and must be fed in safe chairs such as high chairs or baby-feeding tables.*
5. When the infant ~~nursery~~ PROGRAM provides food other than formula, food must be varied and include food from cereal, vegetable, fruit, and protein sources. When the center does not provide solid food, it must supply any additional foods and/or monitor the infant's total nutritional intake.
6. There must be a sufficient supply of bottles provided for the entire day; or if nursing bottles are to be reused, they must be washed, rinsed, and sanitized after each use.
7. Bottles of formula or breast milk must never be warmed in a microwave oven.
8. *A staff member may not mix cereal with formula and feed it to an infant from a bottle or infant feeder unless there are written instructions from the child's health care provider.*

C. Feeding the Toddler

1. *Staff members must either feed toddlers or supervise them when they are eating, and children must be encouraged to try a variety of food served.*
2. Toddlers must be sitting when drinking from a bottle. ~~Bottles must not be allowed during nap time after the first 30 days in care.~~
3. Commercially prepared formula must be mixed according to the manufacturer's direction and each bottle marked with the child's FIRST AND LAST name.

4. ***There must be a sufficient supply of bottles provided for the entire day; or if nursing bottles are to be reused, they must be washed, rinsed, and sanitized after each use.***

7.702.66 Discipline GUIDANCE

- A. Children must not be subjected to physical or emotional harm or humiliation.
- B. The director must not use, or permit a staff person or child to use, corporal or other harsh punishment, including but not limited to pinching, shaking, spanking, punching, biting, kicking, rough handling, hair pulling, or any humiliating or frightening method of disciplineGUIDANCE.
- C. Discipline GUIDANCE must not be associated with food, rest, or toileting. No child should be punished for toileting accidents. Food must not be denied to or forced upon a child as a disciplinary measure.
- D. Separation, when used as discipline FOR-GUIDANCE, must be brief and appropriate for the child's age. The child must be in a safe, lighted, well-ventilated area and be within sight and hearing of an adult. The child must not be isolated in a locked, closed room or closet.
- E. Verbal abuse and derogatory remarks about the child are not permitted.

7.702.67 Overnight Care

- A. All of the provisions required in Section 7.702 of these rules for child care centers apply to centers offering overnight care of children (care that extends through a large portion of the night) WHICH INCLUDES CARE THAT EXTENDS BEYOND MIDNIGHT. In addition, centers must observe the following provisions:
- B. A nutritious evening meal must be made available to children.
- C. Quiet activities must immediately precede the children's bedtime.
- D. Children's faces and hands must be washed, and children must be changed into comfortable clothing for sleeping.
- E. Each child must be provided with a comfortable separate bed, crib, or cot suitable for the child's age or a 2-inch sleeping mat or mattress. Each child must also be provided with sheets and a clean, washable covering. If mats or mattresses are used, the room temperature at floor level must be 68 to 72 degrees. Pads and mattresses must be fitted with a clean, washable, removable covering. Permission of parents or guardians must be obtained for each child who uses a sleeping mat or mattress placed on the floor.
- F. All children must be directly supervised at all times.
- G. The staff-child ratio for sleeping children is 1 adult when 6 or fewer children are in attendance and 2 adults when 7 to 12 children are in attendance, plus 1 adult for each additional 6 or fewer children.

7.702.68 Activities

- A. Activity Schedules

1. The center must carry out a planned program suitable to the needs of the children. This program must be described in writing and be available for review when requested by the department or by parents or guardians of children in care.
2. ~~The program must include outdoor play each day except when the severity of weather, including temperature extremes, makes it a health hazard or when a child must remain indoors due to health reasons.~~
3. PHYSICAL GROSS MOTOR ACTIVITIES, WITH OR WITHOUT EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS, MUST BE PROVIDED EITHER OUTDOOR OR INDOOR DURING INCLEMENT WEATHER TO PRESCHOOL AGE AND OLDER CHILDREN DAILY FOR NO LESS THAN SIXTY (60) MINUTES TOTAL FOR FULL DAY PROGRAMS OPERATING MORE THAN FIVE (5) HOURS PER DAY. ACTIVITIES DO NOT HAVE TO OCCUR ALL AT ONE TIME.
4. PHYSICAL GROSS MOTOR ACTIVITIES, WITH OR WITHOUT EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS, MUST BE PROVIDED EITHER OUTDOOR OR INDOOR DURING INCLEMENT WEATHER TO PRESCHOOL AGE AND OLDER CHILDREN DAILY FOR NO LESS THAN THIRTY (30) MINUTES TOTAL FOR PART DAY PROGRAMS OPERATING FROM THREE (3) TO FIVE (5) HOURS PER DAY. ACTIVITIES DO NOT HAVE TO OCCUR ALL AT ONE TIME.
5. PHYSICAL GROSS MOTOR ACTIVITIES, WITH OR WITHOUT EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS, MUST BE PROVIDED EITHER OUTDOOR OR INDOOR DURING INCLEMENT WEATHER TO PRESCHOOL AGE AND OLDER CHILDREN DAILY FOR NO LESS THAN FIFTEEN (15) MINUTES TOTAL FOR PART DAY PROGRAMS OPERATING UP TO THREE (3) HOURS PER DAY. ACTIVITIES DO NOT HAVE TO OCCUR ALL AT ONE TIME.
6. OUTDOOR PHYSICAL GROSS MOTOR ACTIVITIES, WITH OR WITHOUT EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS, MUST BE PROVIDED TO TODDLER AGE CHILDREN ON A DAILY BASIS.
 - A. WHEN INCLEMENT WEATHER LIMITS OUTDOOR ACTIVITIES, INDOOR PHYSICAL GROSS MOTOR ACTIVITIES, WITH OR WITHOUT EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS, MUST BE PROVIDED TO TODDLER AGE CHILDREN ON A DAILY BASIS.
7. INFANTS MUST BE PROVIDED OUTDOOR PLAY AT LEAST THREE (3) TIMES PER WEEK, WEATHER PERMITTING.
38. If the center takes children on routine short excursions, such activities and locations must be posted at the center.
49. If a child participates in activities away from the facility, the center must obtain the parent or guardian's written permission for the child to participate in the activity at a specific location and day. Staff ratios found at Section 7.702.55 must be maintained.
5. ~~Television viewing, including videos, should not be permitted without the approval of a child's parents, who must be advised of the center's policy regarding television and video viewing.~~

B. SCREEN TIME AND MEDIA USE

1. TELEVISION AND VIDEO VIEWING IS PROHIBITED FOR CHILDREN UNDER THE AGE OF TWO (2).
2. ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES ARE PROHIBITED DURING SNACK OR MEAL TIMES.
3. ALL MEDIA THAT CHILDREN ARE EXPOSED TO MUST BE FROM A VARIETY OF TYPES AND MUST NOT CONTAIN EXPLICIT LANGUAGE OR TOPICS.
4. FOR CHILDREN AGES TWO (2) YEARS AND OLDER, TELEVISION, RECORDED MEDIA AND VIDEO TIME MUST BE LIMITED TO THIRTY (30) MINUTES PER WEEK.
5. FOR CHILDREN AGES TWO (2) YEARS AND OLDER COMPUTER AND TABLET TIME MUST BE LIMITED TO FIFTEEN (15) MINUTE INCREMENTS.
6. FOR CHILDREN AGES TWO (2) YEARS AND OLDER, TELEVISION, RECORDED MEDIA, COMPUTER, TABLET AND MEDIA DEVICE TIME MAY ONLY EXCEED THIRTY (30) MINUTES PER WEEK FOR A SPECIAL OCCASION AS DEFINED IN DEFINITIONS 7.702.; WITH THE EXCEPTION OF CHILDREN USING PERSONAL ADAPTIVE EQUIPMENT FOR AN UNLIMITED AMOUNT OF TIME.

BC. Special Activities Staff

1. If the center engages in special activities away from the child care facility, the staff member responsible for the activity must possess evidence of appropriate experience, training, and/or certification in the program specialty. Verification of experience and/or certification must be in the staff member's personnel file at the center. This staff member must be present whenever the activity is being carried out unless otherwise indicated in these regulations.
2. The qualified supervising staff member of special activities has the following duties:
 - a. Direct training of other staff members working in the activity.
 - b. Assign duties to staff members.
 - c. Assure that all staff members supervising the activity are actively participating in the supervision of children.
 - d. Assure that all necessary equipment is complete, in good repair, and safe to use.
 - e. Assure that environmental hazards are not severe enough to cause danger to participating children.

C. Field Trips

1. The center must notify the children's parents or guardians in advance of any field trip. The staff-child ratio found at Section 7.702.55 must be maintained at all times.
2. ALL GROUPS OF CHILDREN must be actively supervised BY A QUALIFIED EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER at all times.
3. An accurate itinerary must remain at the center.

4. The staff must have with them on a field trip the following information about each child: name, address, and phone number of the child's physician or other appropriate health care professional and the written authorization from the parent or guardian for emergency medical care.
5. A list of all children and staff on a field trip must be kept at the center.

D. FACILITIES THAT PARTICIPATE IN SPECIAL ACTIVITIES INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: SWIMMING, TRAMPOLINES, HORSEBACK RIDING MUST COMPLY WITH CURRENT RULES REGULATING SPECIAL ACTIVITIES SECTION 7.719.

D. Swimming

1. ~~If the center uses a public pool for which the center is not responsible, the center need not provide a lifeguard if a qualified lifeguard is provided by the pool. Staff child ratios must be maintained, and the lifeguard must not be counted in the staff to child ratio.~~
2. ~~If the public or private pool does not provide a qualified lifeguard, staff members meeting qualifications as stated at Section 7.702.68, D, 3, a, must be provided by the center.~~
 - a. ~~There must be at least 1 staff member at the pool for each 10 or fewer children.~~
 - b. ~~Swimming area rules and emergency procedures must be posted at the swimming area and explained to the children.~~
 - c. ~~Swimming is prohibited when fewer than the required qualified staff members are present.~~
3. ~~If the center uses a swimming area at a lake or pond, swimming area rules and emergency procedures must be posted at the swimming area and explained to the children.~~
 - a. ~~A swimming supervisor must be present who, as a minimum, holds a current American Red Cross lifeguard training certificate or equivalent certification from a group such as the YMCA or Boy Scouts.~~
 - b. ~~An additional staff member who holds at least an American Red Cross lifeguard training certificate or equivalent must be present at the swimming area for each 30 additional children in the water.~~
 - c. ~~At least 1 staff member must be at the swimming area for each 10 or fewer children present.~~
 - d. ~~Swimming is prohibited when fewer than the required qualified staff members are present.~~
 - e. ~~Swimming areas must be clearly designated.~~
4. ~~The swimming pool or swimming area must meet the standards of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment or its local unit.~~
5. ~~Before children are permitted to swim in water deeper than shoulder height, their swimming skills must be tested by staff members who hold an American Red Cross lifeguard training certificate or equivalent.~~

6. Child care staff must directly supervise and monitor all children while at the swimming area. Supervision must include monitoring children for exhaustion, distress, sunburn, heatstroke, and threat of drowning.
7. The following equipment must be available for use at the pool side or the lake shore where swimming is permitted:
 - a. A buoy or a lemon line; and
 - b. Reach pole; and
 - c. Backboard.
8. If swimming is permitted in a lake or a pond, a rescue boat equipped with a reach pole and a lemon line or a buoy must be available at all times.
9. If a center has shoreline activities such as wading, fishing, ecology, or nature studies, the center must have a written policy that defines qualifications of persons accompanying the group and safety guidelines to be followed. Staff members must be acquainted with the policy.
10. If the center has a permanent wading pool, children in care can use it only in the presence of an adult who holds a current American Red Cross basic lifeguarding certificate or equivalent and is responsible for providing lifesaving protection for the children. The required staff-child ratio must be maintained at all times.

E. Trampolines

1. The trampoline supervisor must have formal training and experience in use of the trampoline and knowledge of safety and spotting techniques.
2. Trampolines must be equipped with pads along the sides and kept in good repair.
3. Use of the trampoline is prohibited when there is no trampoline supervisor present.
4. Trampolines must be secured from unauthorized use.
5. Only 1 child is allowed on a trampoline at any one time, regardless of the size of the trampoline.
6. Staff spotters must be posted on 4 sides of each trampoline at all times. Spotters must not stand, sit, or lie on the trampoline, but must stand in a position of readiness, watching the jumper at all times.
7. Children must dismount the trampoline by sitting on the edge and sliding off. They must not be allowed to jump off the trampoline.

7.702.69 Transportation

A. Transportation Provided by the Center

1. The center is responsible for any children it transports.
2. The center must obtain written permission from parents or guardians for any transportation of their child during child care hours.

3. The number of staff members who accompany children when being transported in the vehicle must meet the child care staff ratio found at Section 7.702.55. The driver of the vehicle is considered a staff member.
4. Children must not be permitted to ride in the front seat of a vehicle AND MUST REMAIN SEATED WHILE THE VEHICLE IS IN MOTION. ~~unless they are 4 years old or ever, more than 40 pounds, and are~~ ALL CHILDREN MUST BE secured in a child restraint system that IS APPROPRIATE FOR THE AGE AND DEVELOPMENT OF THAT CHILD. THE CHILD RESTRAINT MUST conform to all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards AND COLORADO CHILD PASSENGER SAFETY LAWS. Children must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion.
5. Children must be loaded and unloaded out of the path of moving vehicles.
6. Children must not be permitted to stand or sit on the floor of a moving vehicle, and their arms, legs, and heads must remain inside the vehicle at all times.
7. Children must not be left unattended in the vehicle.
8. Transportation arrangements for school-age children must be by agreement between the center and the children's parents, i.e., whether the child can walk, ride a bicycle, or travel in a car. The center must monitor the children to be sure they arrive at the center when expected and follow up on their whereabouts if they are late. Written permission from parents or guardians for their children to attend community functions after school hours must include agreements regarding transportation.
9. Prior to a field trip or other excursion, the center must obtain information on liability insurance from parents and staff who transport children in their own cars and verify that all drivers have valid driver's licenses.

B. Requirements for Vehicles

1. Any vehicle used for the transportation of children to and from the center or during center activities must meet the following requirements:
 - a. The vehicle must be enclosed and have door locks.
 - b. The seats of the vehicle must be constructed and installed according to the vehicle manufacturer's specifications.
 - c. The vehicle must be kept in satisfactory condition to assure the safety of occupants. Vehicle tires, brakes, and lights must meet safety standards set by the Colorado Department of Revenue, Motor Vehicle Division.
 - d. Seating must be comfortable with a seat of at least 10 inches wide for each child.
- E. THE PROVIDER MUST NOT TRANSPORT MORE CHILDREN THAN ANY VEHICLE IS ABLE TO SAFELY ACCOMMODATE WHEN CHILD RESTRAINT SYSTEMS AND SEAT BELTS ARE PROPERLY INSTALLED IN THE VEHICLE. TWO (2) OR MORE CHILDREN MUST NEVER BE RESTRAINED IN ONE (1) SEAT BELT OR CHILD RESTRAINT SYSTEM.
- F. MODIFICATIONS TO VEHICLES INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE ADDITION OF SEATS AND SEAT BELTS MUST BE COMPLETED BY THE MANUFACTURER OR AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE

MANUFACTURER. DOCUMENTATION OF SUCH MODIFICATIONS MUST BE AVAILABLE FOR REVIEW.

2. In passenger vehicles, which include automobiles, station wagons, and vans with a manufacturer's established capacity of 16 or fewer passengers and less than 10,000 pounds, the following is required:
 - a. Each child must be restrained in an individual seat belt.
 - b. Two or more children must never be restrained in 1 seat belt.
 - c. Lap belts must be secured low and tight across the upper thighs and under the belly.
 - d. Children must be instructed and encouraged to keep the seat belt properly fastened and adjusted.
3. In vehicles with a manufacturer's established capacity of 16 or more passengers, seat belts for passengers are not required.

C. Requirements for Drivers of Vehicles

1. All drivers of vehicles transporting children must comply with applicable laws of the Colorado Department of Revenue, Motor Vehicle Division, and ordinances of the municipality in which the center operates.
2. All drivers of vehicles owned or leased by the center in which children are transported must have a current department- approved first aid and safety certificate that includes CPR for all ages of children.
3. In each vehicle used to transport children, drivers must have access to a first aid kit.
4. The driver must ensure that all doors are secured at all times when the vehicle is moving.
5. The driver must make a good faith effort to ensure that each child is properly belted throughout the trip.
6. DRIVER SHALL NOT EAT, SMOKE OR USE A CELLULAR DEVICE WHILE DRIVING.
7. AT A MINIMUM, THE REQUIRED STAFF TO CHILD RATIO SHALL BE MAINTAINED AT ALL TIMES.
8. ALL DRIVERS MUST BE AT LEAST 20 YEARS OF AGE.
9. DRIVERS COMPLETE A MINIMUM OF FOUR (4) HOURS DRIVER TRAINING DEPARTMENT APPROVED TRAINING. THE DEPARTMENT'S APPROVAL WILL BE BASED ON THE REVIEW OF A TRAINING CURRICULUM THAT INCLUDES AT A MINIMUM: BEHIND THE WHEEL TRAINING; PARTICIPANT TRANSPORT ATTENDANCE PROCEDURES; INCLUDING ATTENDANCE AT THE DESTINATION; MANAGING BEHAVIORAL ISSUES; LOADING AND UNLOADING PROCEDURES; DAILY VEHICLE INSPECTION PROCEDURE; PROPER TIRE INFLATION; EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT AND HOW TO USE IT; ACCIDENT PROCEDURES; PASSENGER ILLNESS PROCEDURES; BACKING PROCEDURES; AND VEHICLE EVACUATION.

D. *Transporting Infants and Toddlers*

1. *Children must be properly fastened into a child restraint system that conforms to all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards pursuant to Colorado law.*
2. *There must be at least 1 adult, in addition to the driver, for each 5 or fewer infants/toddlers being transported. Each adult must have a current department-approved first aid and safety certificate that includes CPR for all ages of children.*
3. *An adult must accompany each child to and from the vehicle.*
4. *Infants and toddlers must not be transported in the front seat of a vehicle.*

7.702.7 CHILD CARE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS

7.702.71 General Requirements

- A. Indoor and outdoor play equipment and materials must be appropriate for children's ages, size, and activities.
- B. Indoor and outdoor materials and equipment must be sufficiently varied and appropriate for the developmental needs of the children and the number attending.
- C. Indoor and outdoor equipment, materials, and furnishings must be sturdy, safe, and free of hazards.
- D. ANY PERMANENTLY INSTALLED CLIMBING EQUIPMENT OR PORTABLE CLIMBING EQUIPMENT EIGHTEEN (18) INCHES OR HIGHER, INDOOR OR OUTDOOR, MUST HAVE PROTECTIVE SURFACING MEETING CURRENT CPSC AND ASTM REQUIREMENTS UNDERNEATH AND IN THE USE ZONE SURROUNDING THE EQUIPMENT.
- DE. Durable furniture such as tables and chairs must be child-sized or appropriately adapted for children's use.
- EF. Children must wear helmets when riding scooters, bicycling, skateboarding, or rollerblading.
- FG. In infant nurseries, an adequate number of high chairs or other suitable pieces of equipment that meet federal Consumer Product Safety Commission standards must be provided for infant feeding.
- GH. The infant nursery PROGRAM must have an adult rocking chair.
- HI. ~~Each infant nursery FOR EVERY FIVE (5) INFANTS FOR WHICH THE CENTER IS LICENSED THERE must have BE aT LEAST ONE (1) piece of sturdy equipment that is easily mobile and ACCESSIBLE TO EFFECTIVELY EVACUATE ALL will hold a minimum of 5 infants for use in emergency exiting~~ FOR WHICH THE CLASSROOM IS LICENSED.
- J. EVACUATION EQUIPMENT MUST BE LOCATED IN THE ROOM OR IMMEDIATELY OUTSIDE THE INTERIOR CLASSROOM DOOR, MUST BE LABELED FOR EASY IDENTIFICATION, READY FOR USE AND MUST FIT THROUGH DOORWAYS. NOTHING MAY BE STORED IN OR UNDER ANY EVACUATION EQUIPMENT. EVACUATION EQUIPMENT MUST NOT BLOCK EXIT ROUTES.
- K. IF A CRIB IS NOT DESIGNED FOR EMERGENCY EVACUATION, THE CRIB MUST BE REINFORCED WITH A KIT MANUFACTURED FOR THIS PURPOSE.

7.702.72 Play-Equipment and Materials

- A. Equipment and materials must be provided for both indoor and outdoor play.
- B. Outdoor play equipment must meet the following requirements:
 1. Swings must have seats made of a flexible material.
 2. Moving equipment must be located toward the edge or corner of a play area or be designed in such a way as to discourage children from running into the path of the moving equipment.
 3. Metal equipment must be placed in the shade when possible and must be arranged so that children playing on one piece of equipment will not interfere with children playing on or running to another piece of equipment.
 4. The maximum height of any piece of playground equipment is 6 feet if accessible to children 2-1/2 to 6 years of age, and 3 feet if accessible to children under 2-1/2 years of age.
 5. All pieces of playground equipment must be designed to guard against entrapment and strangulation.
 6. All pieces of permanently installed playground equipment must be surrounded by a resilient surface of a depth of at least 4 inches. By January 1, 2003, for equipment over 3 feet, resilient material must be a depth of at least 6 inches. Rubber mats manufactured for such use consistent with the guidelines of the Consumer Product Safety Commission may be used in place of resilient material for both equipment heights.
 7. Sand used as a resilient surface must be raked regularly to retain its resiliency and to retain a depth of 6 inches.
 8. The use of any materials under permanently installed playground equipment other than wood chips, wood mulch, engineered wood fiber, pea gravel, synthetic pea gravel, shredded rubber tires, and fine loose sand must be approved by the Department.
- C. The center must have enough play materials and equipment so that at any one time each child for which the center is licensed can be individually involved. Separate play rooms or separate interest centers must be provided for each category of equipment required for the program. A variety of material and equipment from the following categories must be available.
 1. Art Supplies
 2. Blocks and Accessories
 3. Books and Posters
 4. Dramatic Play Area
 5. Large Muscle Equipment
 6. Manipulative Toys
 7. Musical Equipment

8. Science Materials

D. If the center serves school-age children, it must have some age-appropriate materials and equipment from each of the following categories:

1. Arts and Crafts
2. Games
3. Sports
4. Science
5. Library

E. An appropriate supply of play materials must be readily accessible to children and must be arranged in an orderly manner so that children can select, remove, and replace the play materials either independently or with minimum assistance.

F. Toys, and toy parts, FURNISHINGS, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS accessible to children under THREE (3) years ~~of age~~ OLD must NOT be ~~large enough that they cannot be swallowed~~ A CHOKE HAZARD or ABLE TO BE inhaled. ANY AREA OF THE FACILITY ACCESSIBLE TO CHILDREN UNDER THREE (3) YEARS OLD MUST BE FREE OF ANY CHOKE OR INHALATION HAZARDS.

G. Toys, TOY PARTS, FURNISHINGS, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS made of brittle, easily breakable plastic OR GLAS are not permitted for children ~~under~~ LESS THAN FIVE (5) YEARS OLD.

H. *In the infant nursery PROGRAM, some play equipment from the following list must be provided: mobiles, rubber washable toys, rattles, blocks, balls, record player, radio, tape player.*

I. In the toddler nursery PROGRAM, some play materials easily accessible to children must be provided from each of the following categories:

1. Gross Motor Development
2. Fine Motor Development
3. Language Development
4. Social Interaction

J. Drop-in child care centers must provide access to indoor large muscle equipment, including, but not limited to, an indoor climbing structure ~~with resilient surface underneath~~, an open area for indoor large muscle games, and must provide large muscle activities at least two times during each six (6) hour period of time.

K. DROP-IN CENTERS PROVIDING AN INDOOR CLIMBING STRUCTURE MUST HAVE PROTECTIVE SURFACING UNDERNEATH AND IN THE USE ZONE SURROUNDING THE EQUIPMENT MEETING CURRENT CPSC AND ASTM REQUIREMENTS.

- A. A firm cot or two (2) inch mat with a sheet and blanket or other suitable covering must be provided for each preschool child remaining in the center more than four (4) hours.
- B. Cots or pads must be spaced at least two (2) feet apart on all sides during rest time. Children must have a safe area in which to rest.
- C. When the room provided for rest is used for other program activities, the cots, pads, and linens must be stored in an area that is not included in the required square footage assigned for play space.
- D. In rooms used for napping, the light must be dim at nap time to promote an atmosphere conducive to sleep.
- E. In the toddler *nursery* ROOM, a *crib*, sleeping cot, or two (2) inch mat must be provided for each child, and there must be a minimum of two (2) feet between each *crib* or cot. Aisles between cots or *cribs* must be kept free of all obstructions while *cribs* are occupied. No child under the age of two (2) years should use a cot for sleeping without written permission of the parent or guardian.
 - 1. Individual cribs must provide each toddler with sufficient space for the toddler's length, size, and movement, and must meet federal Consumer Product Safety Commission standards. Each crib must be fitted with a firm, comfortable mattress and heavy plastic sheeting or other type of waterproof material. If individual cribs are used, they must be separated by a sturdy divider from the area used for activities.
 - 2. Sleeping cots and mats must be of firm construction and in good repair.
- F. In the toddler *nursery* ROOM, a sheet and a blanket or suitable covering must be provided for each child to be used only by that child.

7.702.8 BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES

7.702.81 Building Site

- A. General
 - 1. Centers can be located in a private residence only when that portion of the residence to which children have access is used exclusively for the care of children during the hours the center is in operation or is separate from the living quarters of the family.
 - 2. No other business can operate in the rooms used by the center during the hours of child care.
 - 3. Rooms licensed for specific ages of children cannot be used for other ages of children without the prior written approval of the licensing authority.

B. Infant Nursery PROGRAMS

- 1. *The infant nursery PROGRAM must be located on the grade level.*
 - 2. If the infant *nursery* PROGRAM is in the same building as a facility caring for children of other ages, the infant *nursery* PROGRAM must be physically separated in different rooms.

C. Toddler Nursery PROGRAM

1. *The toddler nursery PROGRAM must be located on grade level.*
2. If the toddler nursery PROGRAM is combined with a large child care center or an infant nursery PROGRAM, toddler facilities, both indoor and outdoor, must be completely separate from facilities for other age groups, except as allowed by Section 7.702.83, B, 8 and 9. If the facility wishes to provide opportunities for a toddler to have occasional contact with siblings, plans must be approved by the department licensing representative.
3. *A toddler nursery PROGRAM located in a drop-in child care center licensed for five (5) or fewer toddlers may be separated from the rest of the center by a five (5) foot wall.*

7.702.82 Building Plans and Construction

- A. The center must comply with applicable state and local building code and zoning regulations.
- B. Prior to construction, architectural plans for new buildings or for extensive remodeling of existing buildings must be submitted for review and approval by the department, the local fire department, and the local building department as to appropriateness, adequacy, and suitability for child care functions.

7.702.83 Space Requirements

A. Indoor Area Requirements

1. There must be open, indoor play space of at least 30 square feet of floor space per child, including space for movable furniture and equipment. Indoor space must be exclusive of kitchen, toilet rooms, office, staff rooms, hallways and stairways, closets, laundry, furnace rooms, and space occupied by permanent built-in cabinets and permanent storage shelves inaccessible to children.

Child care centers in operation prior to January 1, 1966, and which continue operation under the same governing body, must provide open indoor play space of at least 25 square feet of floor space per child, including space for readily movable furniture and equipment, and with the exclusions noted in the preceding paragraph.

2. Adequate storage space must be provided for indoor and outdoor equipment and supplies. Space for reserve supplies must be in addition to the designated space allotment for children's play activities.
3. ~~There must be at least 1 diaper change area for each 20 or fewer children in need of diaper changing.~~ Diaper change areas must be located and arranged so as to provide privacy for older children in need of diaper changing. See also Section 7.702.63.B.
4. Number of Children Allowed in One Room

AGE OF CHILDREN	MAXIMUM NUMBER OF CHILDREN IN A ROOM
6 weeks to 18 months	10 infants
12 months to 18 months	10 infants
12 months to 36 months	20 toddlers
18 months to 24 months	20 toddlers
24 months to 36 months	28 toddlers
30 months to 36 months	28 toddlers

Toddler centers licensed prior to 7/1/89 are exempt from the room size requirement.

5. Square Footage Requirement per Child

AGE OF CHILD	SEPARATE FREE PLAY AREA	SEPARATE SLEEP AREA	COMBINED SLEEP AND PLAY AREA
6 weeks to 18 months (infants)	35 square feet	adequate space to accommodate size of cribs and needs of infants and staff	50 square feet
12 months to 36 months (toddlers)	30 square feet	30 square feet	45 square feet
2 1/2 years to 5 years (preschool)	-	-	30 square feet
5 years and over (school-age)	-	-	30 square feet

6. *In the infant nursery PROGRAM, the minimum indoor space per infant for sleep and activities is 50 square feet. This space is exclusive of kitchen, toilet rooms, office, staff rooms, hallways and stairways, closets, laundry, furnace rooms, and space occupied by permanent built-in cabinets and storage shelves.*

- a. *If a separate sleep room is provided, it must have enough square footage that all babies and cribs are easily accessible to staff members. The activity room must contain at least 35 square feet per child.*
- b. *If a combination sleep/activity room is used, the sleep area must be separated by a sturdy divider from the area used for activities, and cribs must be arranged so that all babies and cribs are easily accessible to staff members.*

B. Outdoor Area Requirements

- 1. The center must provide an outdoor play area that is adjacent to or safely accessible to the indoor facilities. When the area is not adjacent, staff members must accompany children to and from the play area. Drop-in child care centers are not required to provide an outdoor play area.
- 2. The outdoor play area must provide a minimum of 75 square feet of space per child for a group of children using the total play area at any one time. The total play area must accommodate at least 33 percent of the licensed capacity of the center or a minimum of 1500 square feet, whichever is greater.
- 3. The play area must be fenced or have natural barriers, such as hedges or stationary walls at least 4 feet high, to restrict children from unsafe areas.
- 4. The play area must be designed so that all parts are visible and easily supervised.
- 5. The playground area must have at least 2 different types of surfaces. Each type of surface must cover at least 10 percent of the playground area.
- 6. A shaded area in the fenced play area of at least 150 square feet must be provided by means of trees or other cover to guard children against the hazards of excessive sun and heat.
- 7. *In the infant nursery PROGRAM, the outdoor play area must be a minimum of 400 square feet.*

8. In the infant *nursery* PROGRAM, the outdoor area can be used by other age groups at the center, but it must not be used by any other group of children while infants are using it.
9. THE TOTAL OUTDOOR PLAY AREA FOR TODDLER AGE GROUPS MUST BE A MINIMUM OF SEVEN-HUNDRED-FIFTY (750) SQUARE FEET IF LICENSED FOR TEN (10) TODDLERS AND ONE-THOUSAND-FIFTY (1050) IF LICENSED FOR FOURTEEN (14) OR MORE TODDLERS OR SEVENTY-FIVE (75) SQUARE FOOT PER CHILD FOR THE LARGEST GROUP SIZE FOR WHICH THE PROGRAM IS LICENSED.

910. *In the toddler *nursery* PROGRAM, the outdoor play area can be shared by infants, but infants and toddlers must not be allowed to use the play area at the same time.*

7.702.84 Food Preparation Area

- A. See the "Rules and Regulations Governing the Sanitation of Child Care Centers in the State of Colorado."
- B. *Infant and Toddler *Nurseries* PROGRAMS*
 1. *A table, counter, or shelf, separate from the diaper changing area, must be available for preparing infants' and toddlers' food.*
 2. *The *nursery* PROGRAM must prepare formula or food in the center's kitchen, or the *nursery* must have a second sink or a covered commercial container with a spigot for preparation of formula and food.*

7.702.85 Toilet Facilities

- A. Toilet facilities for the staff and other adults must be in separate compartments or separated by a partition from children's facilities, except in centers licensed for 30 or fewer children and in centers with programs of 4 hours or less.
- B. Toilet rooms for children must be separate from rooms used for other purposes and must be located on the same floor as the inside play area.
- C. A minimum of one (1) lavatory and one (1) flush toilet must be provided for each 15 or fewer children. Drop-in child care centers must provide a minimum of one 1 lavatory and one 1 flush toilet for each 20 or fewer children.
- D. The same toilet facilities must not be used simultaneously by school-age children of both sexes, and toilets for school-age children must be separated by partitions to provide privacy.
- E. Toilet facilities are not required for children under 2 years of age.
- F. Toilet facilities must be provided for children 2 years of age and older.
- G. *Toilet rooms for children must be located within the toddler *nursery* CLASSROOM, except that drop-in child care centers need not provide a toilet in the toddler *nursery* CLASSROOM if the facility is licensed for ten (10) or fewer toddlers. A diaper change table and hand washing sink is required in every toddler *nursery* CLASSROOM MEETING REQUIREMENTS AT 7.702.63.B.*
- H. *EACH INFANT CLASSROOM MUST HAVE ONE DIAPER CHANGING STATION AND HAND WASHING SINK MEETING REQUIREMENTS AT 7.702.63.B*

- I. ONE DESIGNATED DIAPER CHANGE AREA IS REQUIRED FOR EVERY TWENTY-FOUR (24) PRESCHOOL AGE CHILDREN.

7.702.86 Office Facilities

- A. Office space separate from areas used by children, other than for isolation purposes, must be provided for staff to perform administrative duties.
- B. The office must have sufficient space for maintenance and safe storage of children's and staff records and the center's business records.

7.702.9 FIRE AND OTHER SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

7.702.91 General Requirements [Rev. eff. 6/1/12]

- A. Buildings must be kept in good repair and maintained in a safe condition.
- B. Major cleaning is prohibited in rooms occupied by children.
- C. Volatile substances such as gasoline, kerosene, fuel oil, and oil- based paints, firearms, explosives, and other hazardous items must not be stored in any area of the building used for child care. Plastic bags and sharp tools and instruments must be stored in areas inaccessible to children.
- D. Combustibles such as cleaning rags, mops, and cleaning compounds must be stored in well-ventilated areas, separated from flammable materials, and stored in areas inaccessible to children.
- E. All heating units, gas or electric, must be installed and maintained with safety devices to prevent fire, explosions, and other hazards. No open-flame gas or oil stoves, unscreened fireplaces, hot plates, or unvented heaters can be used for heating purposes. All heating elements, including hot water pipes, must be insulated or installed in such a way that children cannot come in contact with them.
- F. Nothing flammable or combustible can be stored within 3 feet of a furnace or hot water heater.
- G. In rooms used by children, all electrical outlets that are accessible to children must have protective covers, or safety outlets must be installed.
- H. Except in part-day preschools, permanently located battery-powered lights must be provided in locations readily accessible to staff in the event of electric power failure. Batteries must be checked regularly.
- I. Closets, attics, basements, cellars, furnace rooms, and exit routes must be kept free from accumulation of extraneous materials such as discarded furniture, furnishings, newspapers, and magazines.
- J. Children under 2 years of age must be excluded from the kitchen. When children age 2 and over prepare food at the center, they may use only equipment and appliances that do not present a safety hazard. Staff-child ratios must be maintained.
- K. First aid supplies must be maintained and made accessible to staff throughout the center and stored in areas inaccessible to children.

- L. All outdoor areas available to children's activities must be maintained in a safe condition by removal of debris, dilapidated structures, broken or worn play equipment. The center must identify hazardous, high-risk areas. These areas must be made inaccessible to children.
- M. Playground surfaces must be checked on a daily basis for the presence of dangerous or other foreign materials. Playground equipment must be checked for safety on a monthly basis.
- N. Window blind cords must be secured out of children's reach to prevent strangulation.
- O. ITEMS LABELED "KEEP OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN" MUST BE INACCESSIBLE TO CHILDREN.
- P. STAPLES MUST NOT BE USED IN AREAS ACCESSIBLE TO CHILDREN UNDER THE AGE OF THREE (3).
- Q. THUMB TACKS MUST BE INACCESSIBLE TO CHILDREN.

7.702.92 Fire Safety

- A. Every building and structure must have sufficient exits to permit the prompt escape of occupants in case of fire or other emergency. Additional safeguards must be provided for life safety in case any single safeguard is ineffective due to some human or mechanical failure.
- B. Every building or structure must be constructed, arranged, equipped, maintained, and operated as to avoid undue danger to the lives and safety of its occupants from fire, smoke, fumes, or resulting panic during the period of time reasonably necessary for escape from the building or structure in case of fire or other emergency.
- C. In every building or structure, exits must be arranged and maintained so as to provide free and unobstructed egress from all parts of the building or structure at all times when it is occupied. No lock or fastening to prevent free escape from the inside of any building can be installed. Only panic hardware or single-action hardware is permitted on a door or on a pair of doors. All door hardware must be within the reach of children.
- D. No child of less than first grade school level can be cared for in areas above or below the main floor of exit unless allowed by the Uniform Building Code and approved by the local fire department.
- E. ONE EXIT from each room must be directly to the exterior of the building or to a common hallway leading to the exterior. THE EXIT PATH MUST NOT GO THROUGH ANOTHER CLASSROOM TO GET TO THE HALLWAY.
- F. Each center must have at least 2 approved, alternate means of egress from each floor of the building or to a common hallway leading to the exterior. They must be at different locations.
- G. All stairways, interior and exterior, that are used by children must be provided with handrails within reach of the children.
- H. If the center has a security lock on outside exit doors, the center must obtain written permission from the local fire department; and there must be a written sign attached to the door instructing center staff that the security lock is not to be utilized when children are present at the center.
- I. Every exit must be clearly visible, or the route to reach it must be conspicuously indicated. Each path of escape must be clearly marked.

J. Every building and structure must have an automatic or department- approved manually operated fire alarm system to warn occupants of the existence of fire or to facilitate the orderly conduct of fire exit drills.

7.702.93 (None) [Rev. eff. 4/1/15]

7.702.100 RECORDS AND REPORTS

7.702.101 Children's Records

The center must maintain and update annually a record on each child that includes:

- A. The child's full name, birth date, current address, and date of enrollment.
- B. Names and home and employment addresses and telephone numbers of parents or guardians.
- C. Any special instructions as to how the parents or guardians can be reached during the hours the child is at the center.
- D. Names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons authorized to take the child from the center.
- E. Names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons who can assume responsibility for the child in the event of an emergency if parents or guardians cannot be reached immediately.
- F. Name, address, and telephone number of the child's physician, dentist, and hospital of choice.
- G. Health information, including medical report, chronic medical problems, and immunization history.
- H. A dated written authorization for emergency medical care signed and updated annually by the parent or guardian. The authorization must be notarized if required by the local hospital, clinic, or emergency health care facility.
- I. Written authorization from a parent or guardian for the child to participate in field trips or excursions, whether walking or riding.
- J. Injury and illness record.
- K. Reports of serious injuries and accidents occurring during care that result in the hospitalization or death of a child.
- L. Significant observations of the child's development.
- M. A record of parent conferences, including dates of conferences and names of center staff and parents or guardians involved.

7.702.102 Staff Records

- A. The center office must maintain a record for each staff member that includes the following:
 1. Name, address, telephone number, and birth date of the individual.
 2. Verification of education, work experience, employment, training, and completion of first aid and CPR courses.

3. Immunization record and health examination reports.
4. Date of employment.
5. Names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons to be notified in the event of an emergency.
6. Information received from the State Department's automated system and the Colorado Bureau of Investigation (may be retained in a confidential file).

B. Each staff member's personnel file must contain all required information within 30 working days of the first day of employment.

7.702.103 Administrative Records and Reports

A. The following records must be on file at the center:

1. Records of enrollment, daily attendance for each child, and daily record of the time the child arrives at and departs from the center.
2. Current health department inspection report issued within the past 24 months.
3. Current fire department inspection report issued within the past 24 months.
4. A list of current staff members, substitutes, and staffing patterns.
5. Copies of menus.
6. A record of visitors to the center.

B. Each center must immediately report in writing to the Colorado Department of Human Services any accident or illness occurring at the center that resulted in medical treatment by a physician or other health care professional, hospitalization, or death. This report must be made within 48 hours after the accident or illness occurred.

C. A report about a fatality must include:

1. The child's name, birth date, address, and telephone number.
2. The names of the child's parents or guardians and their address and telephone number if different from that of the child.
3. Date of the fatality.
4. Brief description of the incident or illness leading to the fatality.
5. Names and addresses of witnesses or persons who were with the child at the time of death.
6. Name and address of police department or authority to whom the report was made.

D. The center must submit to the department within 48 hours a written report about any child who has been lost from the center and for whom the local authorities have been contacted. Such report must indicate:

1. The name, birth date, address, and telephone number of the child.
2. The names of the parents or guardians and their address and telephone number if different from those of the child.
3. The date when the child was lost.
4. The location, time, and circumstances when the child was last seen.
5. Actions taken to locate the child.
6. The name of the staff person supervising the child.

E. The center must report to the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment or its local unit any communicable illness, including but not limited to measles, mumps, diphtheria, rubella, tuberculosis, shigella, hepatitis, meningitis, salmonella, or giardia, contracted by a staff member or a child at the center.

7.702.104 Confidentiality and Retention

- A. The confidentiality of all personnel and children's records must be maintained. See Section 7.701.7 in the General Rules for Child Care Facilities.
- B. Personnel and children's records must be available, upon request, to authorized personnel of the department.
- C. If records for organizations having more than one center are kept in a central file, duplicate identifying and emergency information for both staff and children must also be kept on file at the center attended by the child and where the staff member is assigned.
- D. The records of children and personnel must be maintained by the center for at least 3 years.
- E. POSTING OF ANY PERSONAL INFORMATION OR PHOTOS OF CHILDREN ON SOCIAL MEDIA OR ADVERTISEMENT WITHOUT WRITTEN PARENTAL CONSENT IS PROHIBITED.
- F. RECORDS OF ENROLLMENT, DAILY ATTENDANCE FOR EACH CHILD AND DAILY RECORDS OF THE TIME THE CHILD ARRIVES AT AND DEPARTS FROM THE CENTER FOR THE PAST TWELVE (12) MONTHS MUST BE ON FILE AT THE CENTER. THE PREVIOUS TWO (2) YEARS MUST BE ON FILE AT EITHER THE CENTER OR A CENTRAL LOCATION OR STORAGE.

DRAFT INTERNAL WORKING DOCUMENT ONLY